# Paul McFedries

# SIMPLY WINDOWS 7



Step-by-step introduction to Windows 7



Concise, jargon-free instructions



Packed with screenshots in full-colour



# Make It Simple For Yourself

# SIMPLY WINDOWS® 7

by Paul McFedries



First published under the title Windows 7 Simplified, ISBN 978-0-470-50387-4 by **Wiley Publishing, Inc.,** 10475 Crosspoint Boulevard, Indianapolis, IN 46256

Copyright © 2010 by Wiley Publishing. Inc., Indianapolis, Indiana This edition first published 2010.

Copyright © 2010 for the EMEA adaptation: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

#### Registered office

John Wiley & Sons Ltd, The Atrium, Southern Gate, Chichester, West Sussex, PO19 8SQ, United Kingdom

For details of our global editorial offices, for customer services and for information about how to apply for permission to reuse the copyright material in this book please see our website at www.wiley.com.

The right of the author to be identified as the author of this work has been asserted in accordance with the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988.

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted, in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise, except as permitted by the UK Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988, without the prior permission of the publisher.

Designations used by companies to distinguish their products are often claimed as trademarks. All brand names and product names used in this book are trade names, service marks, trademarks or registered trademarks of their respective owners. The publisher is not associated with any product or vendor mentioned in this book. This publication is designed to provide accurate and authoritative information in regard to the subject matter covered. It is sold on the understanding that the publisher is not engaged in rendering professional services. If professional advice or other expert assistance is required, the services of a competent professional should be sought.

The publisher and the author make no representations or warranties with respect to the accuracy or completeness of the contents of this work and specifically disclaim all warranties, including without limitation warranties of fitness for a particular purpose. No warranty may be created or extended by sales or promotional materials. The advice and strategies contained herein may not be suitable for every situation. This work is sold with the understanding that the publisher is not engaged in rendering legal, accounting, or other professional services. If professional assistance is required, the services of a competent professional person should be sought. Neither the publisher nor the author shall be liable for damages arising herefrom. The fact that an organisation or Website is referred to in this work as a citation and/or a potential source of further information does not mean that the author or the publisher endorses the information the organisation or Website may provide or recommendations it may make. Further, readers should be aware that Internet Websites listed in this work may have changed or disappeared between when this work was written and when it is read.

Wiley also publishes its books in a variety of electronic formats. Some content that appears in print may not be available in electronic books.

All prices correct at time of going to press. Please check appropriate website for current details.

All website information was correct at the time of going to press. Websites do constantly update their privacy settings and policies. Please check the relevant website homepage to find their current policies.

ISBN 978-0-470-71133-0

A catalogue record for this book is available from the British Library.

Printed in Italy by Printer Trento S.r.l.

#### **Permissions**

Microsoft product screenshots reprinted with permission from Microsoft Corporation.

Corbis Digital Stock Digital Vision PhotoDisc/Getty Images Purestock

## **Publisher's Acknowledgements**

Some of the people who helped bring this book to market include the following:

## **Editorial and Production**

VP Consumer and Technology Publishing Director: Michelle Leete
Associate Director – Book Content Management: Martin Tribe
Associate Publisher: Chris Webb
Executive Commissioning Editor: Birgit Gruber
Publishing Assistant: Ellie Scott
Production Manager: Amie Jackowski Tibble
Project Editor: Juliet Booker
Development Editor: Shena Deuchars

## **Composition Services:**

Layout: Andrea Hornberger Graphics: Ana Carrillo Indexer: Potomac Indexing, LLC Series Designer: Patrick Cunningham

## Marketing:

Senior Marketing Manager: Louise Breinholt Marketing Executive: Chloe Tunnicliffe

## About the Author

**Paul McFedries** is a full-time technical writer. Paul has been authoring computer books since 1991 and he has more than 60 books to his credit. Paul's books have sold more than three million copies worldwide. These books include the Wiley titles *Windows 7 Visual Quick Tips, Switching to a Mac Portable Genius, iPhone 3G Portable Genius, Teach Yourself VISUALLY Office 2008 for Mac,* and *Internet Simplified.* Paul is also the proprietor of Word Spy (www.wordspy.com and twitter.com/ wordspy), a Web site that tracks new words and phrases as they enter the language. Paul invites you to drop by his personal Web site at www.mcfedries.com or to follow him on Twitter at twitter.com/paulmcf.

## Author's Acknowledgements

It goes without saying that writers focus on text, and I certainly enjoyed focusing on the text that you'll read in this book. However, this book is more than just the usual collection of words and phrases. A quick thumb-through of the pages will show you that this book is also chock-full of images, from sharp screen shots to fun and informative illustrations. Those colorful images sure make for a beautiful book, and that beauty comes from a lot of hard work by Wiley's immensely talented group of designers and layout artists. Of course, what you read in this book must also be accurate, logically presented, and free of errors. Ensuring all of this was an excellent group of editors that included project editor Sarah Hellert, copy editor Scott Tullis, and technical editor Vince Averello. Thanks to all of you for your exceptional competence and hard work. Thanks, as well, to acquisitions editor Jody Lefevere for asking me to write this book.

## How to Use This Book

Do you look at the pictures in a book or magazine before anything else? Would you rather be shown instead of read about how to do something? Then this book is for you. Opening *Simply Windows* 7 allows you to read less and learn more about the Windows operating system.

#### Who Needs This Book

This book is for a reader who has never used this particular technology or application. It is also for more computer literate individuals who want to expand their knowledge of the different features that Windows has to offer.

#### **Using the Mouse**

This book uses the following conventions to describe the actions you perform when using the mouse:

#### Click

Press your left mouse button once. You generally click your mouse on something to select something on the screen.

#### Double-click

Press your left mouse button twice. Double-clicking something on the computer screen generally opens whatever item you have double-clicked.

#### **Right-click**

Press your right mouse button. When you right-click anything on the computer screen, the program displays a shortcut menu containing commands specific to the selected item.

#### Click and Drag, and Release the Mouse

Move your mouse pointer and hover it over an item on the screen. Press and hold down the left mouse button. Now, move the mouse to where you want to place the item and then release the button. You use this method to move an item from one area of the computer screen to another.

#### The Conventions in This Book

A number of typographic and layout styles have been used throughout *Simply Windows* 7 to distinguish different types of information.

#### Bold

Bold type represents the names of commands and options that you interact with. Bold type also indicates text and numbers that you must type into a dialog box or window.

#### Italics

Italic words introduce a new term and are followed by a definition.

#### Numbered Steps

You must perform the instructions in numbered steps in order to successfully complete a section and achieve the final results.

#### **Bulleted Steps**

These steps point out various optional features. You do not have to perform these steps; they simply give additional information about a feature. Steps without bullets tell you what the program does in response to your following a numbered step. For example, if you click a menu command, a dialog box may appear or a window may open. The step text may also tell you what the final result is when you follow a set of numbered steps.

#### Notes

Notes give additional information. They may describe special conditions that may occur during an operation. They may warn you of a situation that you want to avoid – for example, the loss of data. A note may also cross reference a related area of the book. A cross reference may guide you to another chapter or another section within the current chapter.

#### **Icons and Buttons**

lcons and buttons are graphical representations within the text. They show you exactly what you need to click to perform a step.

You can easily identify the tips or warnings in any section by looking for the Tip and Warning icons. Tips offer additional information, including tips, hints, and tricks. You can use the tip information to go beyond what you have learned in the steps. Warnings tell you about solutions to common problems and general pitfalls to avoid.

## GETTING STARTED WITH WINDOWS 7

- 4 Start Windows 7
- 6 What You Can Do with Windows 7
- 7 The Windows 7 Screen
- 8 Using a Mouse with Windows 7
- Get Help
- Activate Your Copy of Windows 7
- **3** Shut Down Windows 7

# LAUNCHING AND WORKING WITH PROGRAMS

- 6 Install a Program
- 17 Change or Repair a Program Installation
- 8 Start a Program
- 19 Understanding Program Windows
- 20 Use Pull-Down Menus
- **21** Use Toolbars
- 22 Use Dialog Boxes
- 24 Work with Program Windows
- 28 Use Scrollbars
- **30** Switch Between Programs
- 32 Take Advantage of Program Jump Lists
- 34 Uninstall a Program

2



#### CONTENTS

# CREATING AND EDITING DOCUMENTS

- 38 Understanding Documents
- **39** Create a Document
- 40 Save a Document
- 42 Open a Document
- 44 Edit Document Text
- 48 Change the Text Font
- 50 Find Text
- 52 Replace Text
- 54 Print a Document



# WORKING WITH IMAGES

56

- **58** Open the Pictures Library
- 59 Preview an Image
- 60 View Your Images
- 62 Scan an Image
- 64 Import Images from a Digital Camera
- 66 Repair a Digital Image
- 68 Print an Image

CONTENTS

## PLAYING MUSIC AND OTHER MEDIA

- 72 Open and Close Windows Media Player
- 73 Navigate the Media Player Window
- 74 Use the Library
- 76 Play an Audio or Video File
- 77 Adjust the Volume
- 78 Play a Music CD
- 80 Copy Tracks from a Music CD
- 82 Create a Playlist
- 84 Burn Music Files to a CD
- 86 Play a DVD

# **WORKING WITH FILES**

- 90 View Your Files
- 92 Select a File
- 94 Change the File View
- 95 Preview a File
- 96 Copy a File
- 97 Move a File
- 98 Burn Files to a CD or DVD
- **100** Rename a File
- **Create a New File**
- **Delete a File**
- **103** Restore a Deleted File
- Search for a File





CONTENTS

# SHARING YOUR COMPUTER WITH OTHERS

- **108** Display User Accounts
- **109** Create a User Account
- **IIO** Switch Between Accounts
- **112** Change a User's Name
- II4 Change a User's Picture
- Delete an Account
- **118** Create a Homegroup
- **120** Connect to a Wireless Network



# SURFING THE WORLD WIDE WEB



- **124** Understanding the World Wide Web
- **125** Start Internet Explorer
- **126** Navigate Internet Explorer
- Select a Link
- **128** Enter a Web Page Address
- **130** Open a Web Page in a Tab
- **132** Navigate Web Pages
- **134** Change Your Home Page
- **I36** Save Favourite Web Pages
- **I38** Search for Sites

9 (

## WORKING WITH E-MAIL, CONTACTS, AND EVENTS



- 142 Install Windows Live Essentials Programs
- 144 Configure an E-mail Account
- 146 Send an E-mail Message
- Add Someone to Your Contacts
- **148** Select a Contact Address
- **I 50** Add a File Attachment
- I 52 Add a Signature
- **154** Receive and Read E-mail Messages
- **156** Reply to a Message
- **157** Forward a Message
- **158** Open and Save an Attachment
- 60 Switch to Calendar
- 6 Understanding the Calendar
- **162** Navigate the Calendar
- 63 Create an Event
- Add a Calendar

) 10

# IMPLEMENTING SECURITY IN WINDOWS 7



- 168 Understanding Windows 7 Security
- 170 Check Action Center for Security Problems
- **172** Protect an Account with a Password
- 174 Lock Your Computer
- 176 Set the Junk E-mail Protection Level

# **CUSTOMISING WINDOWS 7**



- **181** Change the Desktop Background
- **182** Set the Screen Saver
- 184 Change the Windows 7 Colour Scheme
- **186** Customise the Start Menu
- **188** Customise the Taskbar



# **MAINTAINING WINDOWS 7**

- **192** Check Hard Drive Free Space
- **194** Defragment Your Hard Drive on a Schedule
- **196** Back Up Files
- 200 Restore Backed-Up Files

# INDEX



190

178

# CONTENTS

- 4 Start Windows 7
- 6 What You Can Do with Windows 7
- 7 The Windows 7 Screen
- 8 Using a Mouse with Windows 7
- Get Help
- Activate Your Copy of Windows 7
- **I3** Shut Down Windows 7

# GETTING STARTED WITH WINDOWS 7

Are you ready to learn about Windows 7? In this chapter, you learn a few basic techniques and concepts that will help you get comfortable with Windows. These topics include starting Windows 7, understanding what you can do with Windows 7, and taking a tour of the Windows 7 screen. You also learn how to use a mouse with Windows 7, use the Windows 7 Help system, and activate your copy of Windows 7. The chapter closes by showing you how to shut down your system when you are finished using it.



## **START WINDOWS 7**

When you turn on your computer, Windows 7 starts automatically, but you may have to navigate the Welcome screen along the way. You use the Welcome screen to log in to Windows 7 using the user account and password you configured when you first set up your computer.

If this is the first time you are starting your computer, you will have to run through a series of configuration steps. These steps configure your main user account, your desktop background, and a few security options. You should select the default options to ensure your computer remains secure and up to date.

Turn on your computer.

The Windows 7 Welcome screen appears.

**Note:** If your version of Windows 7 is configured with just a single user and no password, then you bypass the Welcome screen and go directly to the desktop.

2 Click the icon that corresponds to your Windows 7 user name.

Windows 7 prompts you to enter your password.

**Note:** If you are the only user on your computer, Windows 7 prompts you for your password right away, so you can skip Step **2**.







**Note:** The password characters appear as dots as you type them so that no one else can read your password.



The Windows 7 desktop appears after a few moments.







If you forget your password, click the Go arrow () and OK to see the hint – a word or phrase to jog your memory.

# WHAT YOU CAN DO WITH WINDOWS 7

Windows 7 is an operating system that contains a collection of tools, programs, and resources. You do not do anything directly with Windows 7 itself. Instead, you use its tools and programs to perform tasks, including getting your work done, creating pictures, editing photos, playing music, surfing the World Wide Web, exchanging e-mail messages, and more. Here is a sample of what you can do with them.

#### Get Work Done

With Windows 7, you can run programs that enable you to get your work done more efficiently, such as a word processor for writing memos and letters, a spreadsheet for making calculations, and a database for storing information. Windows 7 comes with some of these programs (such as the WordPad program you learn about in Chapter 3), and you can purchase and install others separately.

#### **Create and Edit Pictures**

Windows 7 comes with a lot of features that let you work with images. You can create your own pictures from scratch, import images from a scanner or digital camera, or download images from the Internet. After you create or acquire an image, you can edit it, print it, or send it via e-mail. You learn about these and other picture tasks in Chapter 4.

#### Play Music and Other Media

Windows 7 has treats for your ears as well as your eyes. You can listen to audio CDs, play digital sound and video clips, watch DVD movies, tune in to Internet radio stations, and copy audio files to a recordable CD. You learn about these multimedia tasks in Chapter 5.

## Get on the Internet

Windows 7 makes connecting to the Internet easy. And after you are on the Net, Windows 7 has all the tools you need to get the most out of your experience. For example, you can use Internet Explorer to surf the World Wide Web (see Chapter 8) and Windows Live Mail to send and receive e-mail (see Chapter 9).







## **THE WINDOWS 7 SCREEN**

Before getting to the specifics of working with Windows 7, take a few seconds to familiarise yourself with the basic screen elements, including the desktop, the Start button, the taskbar, and the notification area. You will interact with these screen elements throughout your Windows 7 career, so getting familiar with them early on will help you in the long run.

## Desktop

This is the Windows 7 "work area", meaning that it is where you work with your programs and documents.

## Desktop Icon

An icon on the desktop represents a program, a Windows 7 feature, or a document. Programs you install often add an icon on the desktop.

## G Mouse Pointer

When you move your mouse, this pointer moves along with it.

## Time and Date

This is the current time and date on your computer. To see the full date, position the mouse & over the time. To change the date or time, click the time.

## Notification Area

This area displays small icons that notify you about things that are happening on your computer. For example, you see notifications if your printer runs out of paper or if an update to Windows 7 is available over the Internet.



## F Taskbar

The programs you have open appear in the taskbar. You use this area to switch between programs if you have more than one running at a time.

## G Taskbar Icons

You use these icons to launch some Windows 7 features with just a mouse click.

## Start Button

You use this button to start programs and launch many of Windows 7's features.

## **USING A MOUSE WITH WINDOWS 7**

Windows 7 was built with the mouse in mind, so it pays to learn the basic mouse techniques early on because you will use them for as long as you use Windows. These techniques include clicking the mouse, double-clicking, right-clicking, and clicking-and-dragging.

If you have never used a mouse before, remember to keep all your movements slow and deliberate, and practice the techniques in this section as much as you can.

#### **Click the Mouse**

- Position the mouse & over the object you want to work with.
- 2 Click the left mouse button.
  - Windows 7 selects the object or performs some operation in response to the click (such as displaying the Start menu).



#### **Double-click the Mouse**

- Position the mouse ▷ over the object you want to work with.
- 2 Click the left mouse button twice in quick succession.

Windows 7 usually performs some operation in response to the double-click action (such as displaying the Recycle Bin window).

Called L + Report Re	<ul> <li>A Second Report As</li> </ul>
Equite *	K- 3 0
of lastin	
RE DeAtes	
a Deutean	
T WARDARY	
To Marine	
R Docements	
J Marin	
in Advert	
H Yaka	
d among	
/B Campile	
19 Secol	
CP dame	

#### **Right-click the Mouse**

- П Position the mouse & over the object you want to work with.
- 2 Click the right mouse button.

Windows 7 displays a shortcut menu.

**Note:** The contents of the shortcut menu depend on the object you right-clicked.

#### Click and Drag the Mouse

- Position the mouse & over the object you want to work with.
- 2 Click and hold the left mouse button.
- 3 Move the mouse to drag the selected object.

In most cases, the object moves along with the mouse  $\$ .

Release the mouse button when 4 the selected object is repositioned.





If you are left handed, click Start, Control Panel, Hardware and Sound, Mouse to open the Mouse Properties dialog box. Click the Buttons tab. Click Switch primary and secondary buttons ( changes to ).



**STOP** If your double-clicking does not work, open the Mouse **Properties dialog box and click** the Buttons tab. In the Doubleclick Speed group, click and drag the slider towards Slow.

## **GET HELP**

You can find out more about Windows 7, learn how to perform a task, or troubleshoot problems by accessing the Windows 7 Help and Support system.

Most of the Windows 7 Help and Support system is arranged into categories, such as "Security and privacy" and "Files, folders, and libraries". Each category offers a number of subcategories to help you find the specific area you are looking for. Within each category and subcategory, you see a collection of related topics and these topics provide the instructions or information.

#### Click **Start**.

The Start menu appears.

- 2 Click Help and Support.
  - The Windows Help and Support window appears.
- 3 Click the **Browse Help** button (I).

The Table of Contents appears.



4 Click a category.



- A list of Help topics appears for the category you selected.
- B A list of subcategories appears for the category you selected.
- 5 Click a topic.

The item you selected appears in the Windows Help and Support Center window.

**Note:** If the topic you want is part of a subcategory, click the subcategory to display the list of topics it contains and then click the topic.



Read the article.

**Note:** To return to a previous Windows Help and Support Center screen, click the **Back** button (1) until you get to the screen you want.

Stange + Files, fielders, and literates       Stange + Files, fielders, and literates       Stange Configurates files on bidders aufter a semanantific       Stangering       Stangering       Dring files midjemperens       Stangering       Stangering <t< th=""><th><b>0</b> 0</th><th>🚽 📕 🚉 na Casan</th></t<>	<b>0</b> 0	🚽 📕 🚉 na Casan
Atting + File, folder, and likenies Topics Congorie Dirg file, and object with a second of Congorie Dirg file, and property Congorie Constring, opening, and saving Congorie Congorie Congorie Social and reparting Congorie Debug Congorie Social advantage File and Interimp file. File and Interimp file. Congorie File documents. Congorie	daarun kisp	<i>.</i> , <i>D</i>
Topisi S Canifornite chiles with a semanal Comparise Doing Nex milpropress Contrain, opening, and requesting Contrain, opening, and requesting Contrain, opening, and requesting Contrain, opening, and requesting Contrain, opening, and requesting Defining Huling and abaving Nex. Discreption File and Moline permittions File and Moline permittions File and Moline permittions File documents. More happed aptions	Altimety + Tites, Totaless, and Horarian	
topol Canizante film on hiden with a seasonal Comparise Dring film with mysess Controls, opening, and season Controls, opening, and season Controls, opening, and season Controls, opening and season Controls		
Congories Congo	Topics	
Conspanies  Exceptions Consequencies, environmenteres Consequencies, environmenteres Consequencies, environmenteres Consequencies Fristand Interviewents Fristan	Emigratettile.orbites.othageneed	A
	Categories	
Cranting, opening, and analog Searching and experision Copying Excising up and instanting Excising up and instanting Excising Excising Excision Ex	Dates files and property	
Searching and regarding Copying Excludy up and instancing Excludy up and instancing Excluding and informing thes Excluding and informing thes Excluding and information Exclu	Conting spacing and saving	
Copying Copyi	Searching and aspanising	
	Copying .	
	Backing up and anthrong	
Hiding and drawing film.  King the and bride permittions  Strongton  Drid drawing in  Drid drawing in  Coding Hidge  Coding Hid	E Delating	
	Huling and shawing lites	
Encryption     IPS documents     More support options     Golden Help =	File and folder permissions	
📕 191 documents. R. Mare support options. @ Colore Help =	Decigition-	
🖳 Maren kuppent sptieres 🛞 Ontine Help =	Pi dourent.	
Union Help -	Mann support spliters	
		😲 Dalate Help =
	All and any Marks and Parsons	

Windows Help and Support.	and the second second
00 0 -	🗟 📓 👬 na Cysion -
Search Alage	P
Can I protect files or folders with a passwo	ond?
This, you can't see a parameter to protect files and fields programs that can not Viceleus allow pourts protect in For more information, check the Help for the program	n in Windows. However, some doctual files with a parametrik partite using.
There are affer ways to protect provides and folders in your files using theoryting Net System (BPS), memorially folders or files to setting permissions, or hole them. On how securities folders to files result to be. Decepting is the folders in the least secure.	Windows, New salv smooth specify whe can access the social your method based on the most secars, while hiding
For most information about EFE, use lished is Broughter information-about permissions, see fisher are permission	g His System (HC) for more and
Warthis helpful?	
Yes No Somewhat	
Read the provery dataset index	
	-
More support options	😧 Coline Help =

 $\checkmark$ 

You can access Help in a specific program by clicking Help on the menu, by pressing or by clicking the Help button (1).

# **ACTIVATE YOUR COPY OF WINDOWS 7**

To avoid piracy, Microsoft requires that each copy of Windows 7 be activated. Otherwise, your copy of Windows 7 will refuse to run after the activation period has expired. Activating Windows 7 means that Microsoft uses an Internet connection to confirm that your copy of Windows 7 is genuine and has not also been installed on another computer.

This section assumes that Windows 7 has not yet prompted you to start the activation. If you see an icon in the notification area with the message "Activate Windows now", click that message and then skip to Step 5.

#### Click Start.

The Start menu appears.

- 2 Right-click **Computer**.

**Note:** If the System window shows the Ask for Genuine Microsoft Software, then you do not need to perform the rest of the steps in this section. Click the **Close** button ( $\mathbf{\boxtimes}$ ) to

Click the **Activate Windows** 4 now link.

> The Windows Activation dialog box appears.

- Glick Activate Windows online **now** and wait for confirmation.
- 3 Click **Close**

If you do not have Internet access, in Step 5, click Show me other ways to activate. Select Use my modem to connect directly to the activation service or Use the automated phone system.





**STOP** Activation associates your copy of the program with your computer. If the computer breaks down, Microsoft should allow you to activate Windows 7 on another computer.

- - Click Properties.

The System window appears.

close the System window.

## **SHUT DOWN WINDOWS 7**

When you complete your work for the day, you should shut down Windows 7. However, do not just shut off your computer's power. Follow the proper steps to avoid damaging files on your system.

Shutting off the computer's power without properly exiting Windows 7 can cause two problems. First, if you have unsaved changes in some open documents, you may lose those changes. Second, you could damage one or more Windows 7 system files, which could make your system unstable.

Shut down all your running programs.

**Note:** Be sure to save your work as you close your programs.

2 Click **Start**.

The Start menu appears.

#### Click Shut Down.

Windows 7 shuts down and turns off your computer.

4 If you want Windows 7 to automatically reopen all the programs and documents currently on your screen, click the power button arrow (▶) and then click **Sleep**, instead.

 $\overline{\checkmark}$ 

If your computer is running slow or acting funny, a restart can solve the problem. Save your work and shut down all your running programs. Click Start, click the power button arrow ()) and click Restart. Windows 7 shuts down and your computer restarts.





# CONTENTS

- I Install a Program
- 17 Change or Repair a Program Installation
- **18** Start a Program
- I9 Understanding Program Windows
- 20 Use Pull-Down Menus
- 21 Use Toolbars
- 22 Use Dialog Boxes
- 24 Work with Program Windows
- 28 Use Scrollbars
- 30 Switch Between Programs
- 32 Take Advantage of Program Jump Lists
- 34 Uninstall a Program

# LAUNCHING AND WORKING WITH PROGRAMS

On its own, Windows 7 does not do very much. To do something useful with your computer, you need to work with a program. At first, that will probably mean a program that comes with Windows 7, which offers a number of useful programs.

However, you can also work with any program that you install yourself, and this chapter shows you how to install programs. You also learn how to launch programs, understand program windows, and work with program pull-down menus, toolbars, dialog boxes, scrollbars, and jump lists.



# **INSTALL A PROGRAM**

If Windows 7 does not come with a program that you need, you can obtain the program yourself, either from a computer store or via an Internet download. You can then install the program on your computer.

How you start the installation process depends on what format the program comes in. If you purchased the program from a store, then the program comes on a CD or DVD disc, and you use that disc to install the program. If you downloaded the program from the Internet, the program comes in the downloaded file, and you use that file to install the program.

#### Install from a CD or DVD

Insert the program's disc into your computer's CD or DVD drive.

The AutoPlay dialog box appears.

- 2 Click **Run file**, where file is the name of the installation program (usually SETUP.EXE).
- 3 Follow the installation instructions the program provides.

#### Install from a Downloaded File

- 🕕 Click **Start**.
- 2 Type downloads.
- Click Downloads.

**Note:** If you saved the file into another folder, use Windows Explorer to find it (see the "View Your Files" section in Chapter 6).

The Downloads folder appears.

4 Double-click the file.

The software's installation program begins.

5 Follow the installation instructions the program provides.





Many programs need a product key or serial number. A sticker is attached to the CD case or the back of the box; the key for a downloaded program appears on the download screen or e-mail receipt.

## CHANGE OR REPAIR A PROGRAM INSTALLATION

When you install a program, you can choose the "custom" installation option to install only some of the program's components. If you decide later to install more components or remove installed components, you can rerun the installation program to make these changes.

If an installed program does not start or behaves erratically, it may have one or more missing or corrupt files. Many programs come with a repair option that can fix such problems.

Click Start.

#### Click Control Panel.

The Control Panel window appears.

3 Click Uninstall a program.

The Programs and Features window appears.

- Windows 7 displays a list of the programs installed on your computer.
- 4 Click the program you want to work with.
- Click **Change**.

**Note:** For some programs, you click **Uninstall/Change**. If you want to repair the program, click **Repair**.

Follow the installation instructions the program provides.





In almost all cases, repairing a program simply copies the program's original files to your hard disk. You should back up your data (see Chapter 12) before repairing any program because you could lose data that you have created.

## **START A PROGRAM**

To work with any program, you must first tell Windows 7 what program you want to run. You normally do this by selecting the program via the Windows 7 Start menu, which contains a list of the programs you use most often, as well as various submenus that contain icons for all the programs installed on your computer. In Windows 7, you can also use the taskbar to start some programs.

Whichever method you use, Windows 7 then launches the program and displays it on the desktop.

#### Click **Start**.

If the program you want to use has a taskbar button, you can click the button to launch the program.

#### Click **All Programs**.

**Note:** When you click **All Programs**, the command name changes to Back.

- If your program icon is in a submenu, click the submenu.
- Click the icon for the program you want to launch.
  - The program appears on the desktop.
  - B Windows 7 adds a button for the program to the taskbar.

**Note:** After you have used a program a few times, it may appear on the main Start menu. If so, you can launch the program by clicking its Start menu icon.





# **UNDERSTANDING PROGRAM WINDOWS**

When you start a program, it appears on the Windows 7 desktop in its own window. You work with a program by manipulating the various features of its window. These features include the title bar, menu bar, toolbar, and three buttons: Minimize, Maximize, and Close.

## System Menu Icon

Clicking this icon or pressing At + Spacebar displays a menu that enables you to work with program windows via the keyboard.

B Title Bar

The title bar displays the name of the program. In some programs, the title bar also displays the name of the open document. You can also use the title bar to move the window.

## G Menu Bar

The menu bar contains the pull-down menus for Windows 7 and most Windows 7 software. In some programs, you must press All to see the menu bar.

## Toolbar

These buttons offer easy access to common program commands and features. Some buttons are commands and some have lists from which you can make a choice.



## Minimize Button

You click the Minimize button () to remove the window from the desktop and display only the window's taskbar button. The window is still open, but not active.

## Maximize Button

To enlarge the window from the taskbar or so that it takes up the entire desktop, you click the Maximize button (a).

## Close Button

When you click the Close button (💌), the program shuts down.

# **USE PULL-DOWN MENUS**

When you are ready to work with a program, Windows 7 offers a number of different methods, but the pull-down menus are the most common. You use pull-down menus to access the program's commands and features.

There are two types of items in most pull-down menus: commands that execute some action in the program, or features that you turn on and off.

You access all pull-down menus via the menu bar, and most programs display the menu bar by default. However, if you do not see the menu bar, you can often display it by pressing the Alt key.

#### Run Commands

Click the name of the menu you want to display.

The program displays the menu.

You can also display a menu by pressing and holding All and pressing the underlined letter in the menu name.

Click the command you want to run.

The program runs the command.

If a submenu appears, click the command in the submenu.

## Turn Features On and Off

Click the name of the menu you want to display.

The program displays the menu.

- Olick a menu item.

Toggle features are either turned on (indicated by 📝) or off (no check mark appears).

The active option feature is indicated by .





## **USE TOOLBARS**

You can use a program's toolbars to access commands faster than using the pull-down menus. In most cases, a toolbar is a collection of buttons, lists, or other controls that often give you one-click access to the program's most common features.

Most programs come with one or more toolbars, although in some programs you must first display the toolbar you need. If there is a toolbar that you never use, you can hide it to give yourself more room in the program window.

#### **Execute Commands**

Click the toolbar button that represents the command or list.

**Note:** If the toolbar button remains "pressed" after you click it, the button toggles a feature on and off and the feature is now on. To tum the feature off, click the button to "unpress" it.

The program executes the command or, as shown here, drops down the list.

2 If a list appears, click the list item for the command.

#### **Display and Hide Toolbars**

- 🕕 Click **View**.
- Olick Toolbars.
- 3 Click a toolbar.

If the toolbar is currently displayed (indicated by 📝 in the View menu), the program hides the toolbar. If the toolbar is currently hidden, the program displays the toolbar.





## **USE DIALOG BOXES**

You use dialog boxes to control how a program works. Dialog boxes appear frequently, so you need to know how to use them to get the most out of any program.

For example, when you print a document, you usually see the Print dialog box, which includes several controls that enable you to control the print job. You might see a list of the available printers, radio buttons that enable you to specify how much of the document you want to print, and a spin button that enables you to specify the number of copies you want printed.

#### Use a Text Box

Click inside the text box.

A blinking, vertical bar (called a *cursor* or an *insertion point*) appears inside the text box.

Use **Backspace** or **Del** to delete any existing characters.

Type your text.

# Enter a Value with a Spin Button

- Click the bottom arrow on the spin button (+) to decrease the value.

You can also type a value in the text box.

agraph	
Indentation	
Left:	
Right:	0"
Fistling	0"
Spacing	
Line spacing:	1.15 -
📝 Add 10pt spe	ice after paragraphs
Alignment:	Laft *
Tabe	OK Cancel



## Select a List Box Item

If necessary, click the down arrow () to scroll down the list and bring the item you want to select into view.

Click the up arrow () to scroll back up through the list.

**Note:** See the "Using Scrollbars" section to learn how to use scrollbars.



## Select an Item Using a Combo Box

- Click the item in the list box to select it.
- 2 You can also type the item name in the text box.

#### Select an Item From a Drop-Down List Box

3 Click the drop-down arrow (...).

The list appears.

- 4 Click the item in the list that you want to select.
  - These keyboard shortcuts make dialog boxes easier to work with.

Enter	Selects the default command button (which is indicated with a highlight around it).
Esc	Cancels the dialog box (which is the same as clicking Cancel).
Alt +letter	Selects the control that has the letter underlined.
Tab	Moves forward through the dialog box controls.
Shift + Tab	Moves backward through the dialog box controls.
🚹 and IJ	Moves up and down within the current option button group.
Alt + 🗸	Drops down the selected combo box or drop-down list box.

re volument.	and the second
Attachments To De Saved:	
Herro-lugit-dox 21 348	* Save
[3] Minding Your & nail Manness story (78.3 KB)	
They Yorks in the Roden Visikalace data (2017)	
Fars Investor door (44) KG1	
T Parent-folio Tayonta-dore (21.6 ME)	
Responses to a second second second	
Sour-Rely Continues Reported (1.72 KB)	10
To-do Lates (1.80 x8)	
- Then a literations from (11 f all)	
27 J.N. Belgishers Visual Relat Revolution (ED 1 KE)	
The second secon	2462.46
tave To	-
C'User/Paul Securaria	Bernet



2

#### **CHAPTER 2** LAUNCHING AND WORKING WITH PROGRAMS

# WORK WITH PROGRAM WINDOWS

You need to know how to work with program windows so that you can keep your desktop neat and your programs easier to find.

For example, you can minimise a window to clear it from the desktop and you can maximise a window to give yourself more room to work within the window. You should also know how to *restore* a window. This means that you return the window to its original size and location after you have minimised or maximised it. You also need to know how to close a window that you no longer need.

#### Minimise a Window



- Click the **Minimize** button  $(\Box)$ .
  - The window disappears from the screen, but its taskbar button remains visible.

#### Maximise a Window

Click the **Maximize** button (**[**]).



The window enlarges to fill the entire desktop.

**Note:** You can also maximise a window by double-clicking its title bar or by dragging its title bar to the top of the screen.



To see your desktop, position the mouse  $\Im$  over the Show desktop bar on the right edge of the taskbar.



To minimise all your open windows, click the Show desktop bar or right-click the taskbar and then click Show the desktop.


## **Restore a Window**

If the window is maximised, click the **Restore** button (**[**]).

If the window is minimised, click its taskbar button.

The window returns to its previous size and location.



## Close a Window

Click the **Close** button ( $\mathbb{N}$ ).

The window disappears from the screen.

If the window has a taskbar button, the button disappears from the taskbar.

**Note:** If the window contains a document, the program may ask if you want to save any changes you made in the document before closing.





To maximise a minimised window, right-click the window's taskbar button. In the menu, click Maximize.



Press All + Spacebar to display the system menu for a window. Use 1 and 1 to highlight the command you want and then press Enter.

continued  $\rightarrow$ 

2

# WORK WITH PROGRAM WINDOWS (continued)

If you have information on the desktop or in a window that you want to see, but another window is covering some or all of that information, you can move the other window out of the way.

If after moving the window you find that it still covers up part of the other item, you can also resize the window.

Similarly, if your windows overlap each other, making it hard to read what is in other windows, you can move the windows around or resize them.

## Change the Window Size

Position the mouse & over the window border that you want to move.



The  $\[Beta]$  changes to a twoheaded arrow ( $\]$ ).

**Note:** If the pointer does not change, it means the window cannot be resized.

2 Click and drag the \$ to make the window larger or smaller.

Windows 7 moves the border along with the \$.



Release the mouse button.

Windows 7 resizes the window.

**Note:** To resize two borders at once, click and drag the corner of the window that joins them.





## Move a Window

- Position the mouse ▷ over an empty section of the window's title bar.
- 2 Click and drag the mouse in the direction you want the window to move.

Windows 7 moves the window along with the mouse  $\S$ .

Release the mouse button.

Windows 7 moves the window.







Press All + Spacebar to display the system menu. If you choose Move or Size, use the arrow keys to move or size the window, and then press Enter. Press Cttl + F4 to close a program window.

 $\checkmark$ 

To stop windows overlapping, right-click an empty section of the taskbar and then click Show windows side by side. Windows 7 divides the desktop to give each window an equal amount of space. To stack windows, right-click an empty section of the taskbar and then click Show windows stacked. Windows 7 arranges the windows in a tidy diagonal pattern from the top left corner of the desktop.

# **USE SCROLLBARS**

If the entire content of a document is too long to fit inside a window, you can see the rest of the document by using the window's vertical scrollbar to move the content up and down.

In some scenarios, the content may be too wide to fit inside a window. In such cases, you can see the rest of the document by using the window's horizontal scrollbar to move the content left and right.

Scrollbars also appear in many list boxes, so knowing how to work with scrollbars also helps you use dialog boxes.

### Scroll Up or Down in a Window

Click and drag the vertical scroll box down or up to scroll through a window.



- You can also click the up arrow () or down arrow ().
- The text scrolls down or up.



28

## Scroll Right or Left in a Window

- Click and drag the horizontal scroll box.
  - G You can also click the right arrow (►) or the left arrow (



The text scrolls left or right.



If your mouse has a wheel, you can use it for scrolling up or down in a document. Move the wheel backward, toward your arm, and the document scrolls down; move the wheel forward, toward your computer, and the document scrolls up.

# **SWITCH BETWEEN PROGRAMS**

With Windows 7, you can run two or more programs at the same time, a technique called *multitasking*. For example, you could have your word processor, your e-mail program, and your Web browser running at the same time. However many programs you are currently multitasking, you need to know how to switch from one to another.

You can switch from one program to another by using either the taskbar or the keyboard.

## Switch Programs Using the Taskbar

Click the taskbar button of the program to which you want to switch.

**Note:** A program does not have to be minimised to the taskbar for you to use the program's taskbar button.



Windows 7 brings the program's window to the foreground.

**Note:** You can also switch to another window by clicking the window, even if it is in the background.



# Switch Programs Using the Keyboard

Press and hold Alt and press Tab.

Windows 7 displays thumbnail versions of the open windows and the desktop.

- 2 Press the until the window in which you want to work is selected.
- 3 Release Att.
  - Windows 7 brings the program's window to the foreground.







Position the mouse  $\triangleright$  over a program's taskbar button to see a thumbnail of the program window before switching to it.

# **TAKE ADVANTAGE OF PROGRAM JUMP LISTS**

You can use the new jump list feature in Windows 7 to open files or run program tasks. A *jump list* is a list associated with each program that supports this feature. Most jump lists consist of items you most recently used in the program, but some jump lists also include common program tasks.

The recent items you see on a program's jump list are called *destinations*, and they can be files, folders, Web sites, or whatever type of data the program supports.

## **Open a Destination**

- Right-click the program's taskbar icon.
- Click the destination.







## Run a Task

Right-click the program's taskbar icon.

Click the task.

Windows 7 launches the program if it is not already running and runs the task.





You can pin a destination to the jump list, so that it always appears. If the destination is already on the jump list, right-click it and click Pin to this list.



To remove or unpin a destination from a jump list, right-click the destination and then click Remove from this list or Unpin from this list.

# **UNINSTALL A PROGRAM**

When you plan to no longer use a program, you should uninstall it from your computer. Uninstalling a program means that you delete all of the program's files from your computer and remove the program's icons from the Start menu, desktop, and taskbar. Fortunately, either the program itself or Windows 7 takes care of all these uninstall details automatically, so you only need to start the process.

Removing unused programs frees up disk space and makes your All Programs menu easier to navigate.



#### Click **Start**.

Click Control Panel.

The Control Panel window appears.



Click Uninstall a program.



The Installed Programs window appears.

- 4 Click the program you want to uninstall.
- Click Uninstall (or Uninstall/ Change).

In most cases, the program asks you to confirm that you want to uninstall it.

### 🙆 Click **Yes**.

The program's uninstall procedure begins. Follow the instructions on the screen, which vary from program to program.



Pite Ball View Tank H	¥y		
Canton Person Horney View Innalisis updates	Universital or change a program. To universital a program, when this on the last and the solid linearist, Dange, or the	pais.	
	Ogena + Unidel		а.
	Have Public	Installation	3
	An objective of the completely remove white Matters (considered)	55204 525.040	1
Ľ		0.6.204 3.6.204 3.6.204 3.6.204 3.6.204 3.6.204 3.6.204 3.6.204	

Many programs come with an uninstall command. Click Start, All Programs and the program name. Click the command that includes the word Uninstall to begin the uninstall procedure.

# CONTENTS

- 38 Understanding Documents
- **39** Create a Document
- 40 Save a Document
- 42 Open a Document
- 44 Edit Document Text
- 48 Change the Text Font
- 50 Find Text
- 52 Replace Text
- 54 Print a Document

8

# CREATING AND EDITING DOCUMENTS

To get productive with Windows 7, you need to know how to work with documents. In this chapter, you begin by learning what documents are and what types of documents you can create. From there, you learn how to create your own documents and how to save your work. You also get the details on opening documents and you learn basic editing techniques, such as deleting characters, selecting text, and copying and moving text. You also learn how to change the font, find and replace text, and print documents.



# **UNDERSTANDING DOCUMENTS**

Although your computer comes with thousands of files, only a few of them can be considered documents. That is because a document is a file that you create yourself or that you can open and edit yourself.

Most documents consist of text, but you can also create documents that are pictures. The four examples shown here are the basic document types that you can create using the programs that come with Windows 7.

Ter-Da List - Naterpad

Call to arrange train tickets Phone Kares re: Dinner tesight

set up variation stop for newspaper

Send deposit check for cottage rental

teachedule client meeting

high and secure car

ro-Do List

## Text Document

A text document is one that includes only the characters that you see on your keyboard, plus a few others. A text document contains no special formatting, such as coloured text or bold formatting, although you can change the font. In Windows 7, you normally use the Notepad program to create text documents (although you can also use WordPad).

## Word Processing Document

A word processing document contains text and other symbols, but you can format those characters to improve the look of the document. For example, you can change the size, colour, and typeface, and you can make words bold or italic. In Windows 7, you use the WordPad program to create word processing – or Rich Text Format – documents.



## Drawing

A drawing in this context is a digital image you create using "tools" that draw lines, boxes, polygons, special effects, and free-form shapes. In Windows 7, you use the Paint program to create drawings.

## E-mail Message

An e-mail message is a document that you send to another person via the Internet. Most e-mail messages use plain text, but some programs support formatted text, images, and other effects. In Windows 7, you can download and install the Windows Live Mail program to create and send e-mail messages (see Chapter 9).

CHAPTER 3 CREATING AND EDITING DOCUMENTS www.allitebooks.com

# **CREATE A DOCUMENT**

When you are ready to create something using Windows 7, in most cases you begin by opening the appropriate program – such as Windows Live Mail, if you want to create an e-mail message – and then using the program to create a new document to hold your work.

Many Windows 7 programs (such as WordPad and Paint) create a new document for you automatically when you begin the program. However, you can also create a new document any time you need one.

- A
- Start the program you want to work with.
- Click File.

Click **New**.

B If the program supports more than one type of file, the program asks which type you want to create.

**Note:** Some programs display a dialog box with a list of document types.

3 Click the document type you want.

The	program	creates	the	new
docı	ument.			

**Note:** In some programs you can also create a document by clicking the **New Document** toolbar button (...). In most programs, you can also press **Cri** + **N** to create a new document.





# **SAVE A DOCUMENT**

After you create a document and make any changes to it, you can save the document to preserve your work.

Saving your work is important because when you work on a document, Windows 7 stores the changes in your computer's memory, which is erased each time you shut down or restart your computer. When you save a document, Windows 7 stores your changes on your computer's hard drive. Because the contents of the hard drive are preserved when you shut down or restart your computer, you do not lose your work.

## Click Save.

Click **File** (**D**).

**Note:** If you have saved the document previously, your changes are now preserved. You do not need to follow the rest of the steps in this section.



If this is a new document that you have never saved before, the Save As dialog box appears.

- 3 Click here to see a list of your folders.
  - Click **Documents**.

**Note:** In most programs, the Documents folder is selected automatically when you save a document.





Windows 7 opens the Documents folder.

Click in the File Name text box and type the name you want to use for the document.

**Note:** The name you type can be up to 255 characters long, but it cannot include the following characters: < > , ? : " \ \*.

- 6
  - Click **Save**.
  - The file name you typed appears in the program's title bar.

1200	y George Joshe
-	n 764
1 4 14	1000 - 10 - 22 WW 10 - 10 2 W 10 -
-	B I B A P A I A A B B B B Dr. Devel Max Not.
Convert.	And Paulion of States of States
	and the second second second data and the second
	Clark Mark
	Carl a Linear a Despress a
	Harsana Conference Agence 200 - 5
	towardse Act factore at the
	R Berafutes Court
	PPS (8
	18% (i)
	иеч (а)
	рек (g0 (
	y Geterer specially worked
	y Cartering specially social and a second se
	Contener agentable souther
	Conteners agents (M) souther
	Contrarge special (10) and all      Contrarge special (10) an
	Contener agentability souther     C
	Contract and a contract of the second an
	Arrenda for 2009 Conference
	Agenda for 2009 Conference
	Agenda for 2009 Conference
	Agenda for 2009 Conference
	Agenda for 2009 Conference Day 1 1000-913 Welcome
	Agenda for 2009 Conference Day 1 900-515 Welcome 515-18-00 Knywet Seench
	Agenda for 2009 Conference Day 1 900-915 Welowe 915-18-00 Keywele teenh 1000-918 Okabesian

10:33 - 30:58 Celline Break 50:53 - 32:08 Parel Bessien 32:08 - 32:00 Lunch



WordPad can create word processing documents and text documents but Notepad supports only text documents. If a program supports multiple document types, the Save As dialog box includes a dropdown list named Save As Type (or something similar).

# **OPEN A DOCUMENT**

To work with a document that you have saved in the past, you need to open the document in the program that you used to create it.

When you save a document, Windows 7 stores the document contents in a file on your hard drive. Opening the document means that Windows 7 locates the file on the hard drive and then loads its contents into your computer's memory. This enables you to read, edit, and add to the document using the original program.

- 42
- Start the program you want to work with.

Click File (🔲).

**Note:** If you see the document you want in the list of recently used documents on the File menu, click the name to open it and skip the rest of the steps in this section.

Click **Open**.

The Open dialog box appears.



## Double-click **Documents**.

**Note:** In most programs, the Documents folder is selected automatically when you open a document.



If you want to open the document from some other folder, click here, click your user name, and then doubleclick the folder.

Windows 7 opens the Documents folder.







In most programs, you can also press + o or click the Open button ( ). Click the document name.

Click **Open**.

The document appears in the program window.

You do not always need to open a program before opening a document.

- 7 Click Start.
- 8 Click Documents.

The Documents library appears.

Double-click the document.

Windows 7 starts the program in which you created the document and then opens the document.





# **EDIT DOCUMENT TEXT**

When you work with a character-based file, such as a text document, a word processing document, or an e-mail message, you need to know the basic techniques for editing the document text.

The most fundamental editing technique involves deleting existing characters that you no longer need or that you typed accidentally or in error. However, you also need to know how to select text, which then enables you to copy or move that text.

## **Delete Characters**

Click immediately to the left of the first character you want to delete.

The cursor appears before the character.

2 Press 📧 until you have deleted all the characters you want.

**Note:** An alternative method is to click immediately to the right of the last character you want to delete and then press **Backspace** until you have deleted all the characters you want.

**Note:** If you make a mistake, immediately press **Cttl** + **Z** or click the **Undo** button (**(**). Alternatively, click **Edit** and then click **Undo**.





## Select Text for Editing

Click and drag across the text you want to select.



Release the mouse button.

The program highlights the selected text.

Canada and a second	* / * * *	10.4 m	Read and a	21- 1	New Yorks	Part Street	El tenary		-7 -
	Agenda fo	r 2010 Co	aference						i
	Day 1								
	K00-9015	Webcere							
	815-1800	Keyncer Spe	ech						
	10:00 - 10:38	QEASHIE	in .						
	10:30 - 10:50	Coffee Break	K						
	10:50 - 12:00	Panel Sessio	6						
							MN CI-	-0-	- 8

**4**5

 $\overline{\checkmark}$ 

Here are some useful shortcut methods for selecting text in WordPad:

- Click in the white space to the left of a line to select the line.
- Double-click a word to select it.
- Triple-click inside a paragraph to select it.

- ✓ Press Ctrl + △ to select the entire document.
- ✓ For a long selection, click to the left of the first character you want to select, scroll to the end of the selection using the scroll bar, press and hold Shift, and then click to the right of the last character you want to select.

continued ->

## EDIT DOCUMENT TEXT (continued)

Once you select some text, the program treats the selection as though it was a single object. This means that you can work with all of the selected characters together, which is much faster than working with one character at a time.

For example, if you need to delete a large section of text, it is much faster to select the text first and then delete it all at once. You can also copy or move the selected text to a different location within the document.

## **Copy Text**

Select the text you want to copy.

Click Copy (🛅).

**Note:** In most programs, you can also press **Cm**+**C** or click the **Edit** menu and then click **Copy**.

Click inside the document at the position where you want the copy of the text to appear.

The cursor appears in the position you clicked.

4

Click **Paste** (1).

Note: In most programs, you can also press **Ctrl**+**V** or click the **Edit** menu and then click **Paste**.

The program inserts a copy of the selected text at the cursor position.





## **Move Text**



Select the text you want to move.

2) Click **Cut** (🚺).

The program removes the text from the document.

**Note:** In most programs, you can also press **Cm** + **X** or click the **Edit** menu and then click **Cut**.

Click inside the document at the position where you want to move the text.

The cursor appears at the position you clicked.

🕘 Click **Paste** (🔲).

The program inserts the text at the cursor position.

**Note:** In most programs, you can also press **Cm**+**V** or click the **Edit** menu and then click **Paste**.



Select the text you want to move or copy with your mouse and position the mouse bover the selection. To move it, click and drag the text to the new position within the document. To copy it, press and hold Cm, and then click and drag the text to the desired position.

# **CHANGE THE TEXT FONT**

When you work in a word processing document, you can add visual appeal by changing the font formatting of some or all of the text.

The font formatting determines how the characters appear in the document. For example, one common font attribute is the typeface, which determines the overall look of each character. You can also change the font style - which determines whether the text appears as bold or italic – and the font size. Most programs also offer several special effects, such as underline or colours.

Select the text you want to format.





### Click the **Home** tab.



**Note:** In many other programs, you display the font options by clicking Format in the menu bar and then clicking the Font command.



- 3 Click 💽 to see the list of fonts.
- In the Font list, click the typeface you want.
- In the Size list, click the type size you want.



- $\bigcirc$  For bold text, click **Bold** (**B**).
- 7) For italics, click **Italic** (**I**).
- For underlining, click Underline (U).
- In the Font colour list, click and then click a colour.

The program applies the font formatting to the selected text.



49

These shortcuts work in most programs: for bold, press Ctrl+ E; for italics, press Ctrl+L; for underline, press Ctrl+U.

## FIND TEXT

In large documents, when you need to find a specific word or phrase, you can save a lot of time by using the program's Find feature, which searches the entire document in the blink of an eye.

Most programs that work with text - including Windows 7's WordPad and Notepad programs – have the Find feature. You can also work with the Find feature in programs such as Internet Explorer and Windows Live Mail.



## Click **Find** (M).

Note: In many programs, you run the Find command by clicking **Edit** in the menu bar and then clicking the **Find** command or by pressing Ctrl + F.



The Find dialog box appears.

- Click in the Find What text box and type the text you want to find.
- Click Find Next.

	ani af the Truck - Facilitat	0.9.9
And Add of the		
Contract of the second	A fair and and a fair and and a fair and a f	
	International Activation of the second	
	-vari vigea	
	PFS (2)	-0

A The program selects the next instance of the search text.

**Note:** If the search text does not exist in the document, the program usually displays a dialog box to let you know.

- If the selected instance is not the one you want, click **Find Next** until the program finds the correct instance.
- Click the Close button (☑) to close the Find dialog box.

The program leaves the found text selected.

<b>D B</b> 2 C	a Athani after took- farihal	
	- Per	
144		
This Con	B J D de K of J - A- B B B D - Designed for Design	
Chinese	Aut Respect to 5 to 100mg	
		114.000
	to a room-with-various outputsi and socialization antifacts. The Caech playanget	
	Cannota Functioning shall a last, "Funcy one would be a read shally."	
	[Leg	
	New work frequence and agence and	
	alto our Department Devel at The Aven	
	at they a Chiefe test	
	And a second sec	
	South to the a second approximation care second which a control	
	Ser vitra reclogram-as-cutural-reflection idea:	
	that especially capture our attention are indeed offer	
	NAME AND A DOT MANY THAT THAT AND A DAMAGE CAR-COMPANY	
	PPS 0	0 8
	195 g	0-8
	<ul> <li>Arbany (Plane Arabit Freedor)</li> </ul>	0 8
	99% ≥ 1. Alfranc (Phen Stock ( Parthol) = Tex	0 8
	Affred of the field of the fiel	0 8
		0 8
	201 ≥     201 ≥	0 - 8
	Andrees (2 from from (1) Provided)     The set of	0 8
	Afficient of the field of	
	Affine of the field of the fiel	
E Carlor Control Contr	Although them took () fourthed Them	
Datast	Afflase; pit the truck () function!     A	0 *
	Affault (Pfant ford.) Pointed     A	
	Athlanes in their Work() Provided      Annual provided in the second provided pr	
Dataset	Affiliary of the truck () fourthed The The Affiliary of the truck () fourthed The Affiliary of the truck () fourthed The Affiliary of the truck () fourthed Affiliary	
	Advance information () incomental      Advance information ()      Advance information ()      Advance information ()      Coarres down with they affidion many pasts ago, and the been claris lapper rear since. Lerips more and language in general but what sets my carrile aluming is, as     R. L. Menchan suici, "the biology of language, as represents the palemoticing," If there     The immy language more than the beenchand had sets my carrile aluming in, as     R. L. Menchan suici, "the biology of language, as represents the palemoticing, "I have     The immy language more than the beenchand had sets my carrile aluming in, as     R. L. Menchan suici, "the biology of language, as represents the palemoticing," I have     The immy language more than the beenchand had been meanings and     sectore out the transmitter to pale.	
E Colorest	Affauet information 2 how the     Affauet information	
	Affaired in the final Disorder     Affaired in the final Disorder     Affaired in the final Disorder     Affaired in the final Disorder in the final Disorder in the paire of the final Disorder Disorder in the paire of the final Disorder in the paire of the final Disorder	0 #
	Affines of the tools () fourthed The second	0 *

To avoid matching small words, such as "the", in words such as "theme" and "bother", click Match whole word only (□ changes to ☑) in the Find dialog box.



To avoid matching the name "Bill" with the word "bill", click Match case ( changes to ) in the Find dialog box.

CHAPTER 3 CREATING AND EDITING DOCUMENTS

## **REPLACE TEXT**

Do you need to replace a word or part of a word with some other text? Normally you would open the document and then edit the text directly. However, if you have several instances to replace, you can save time and do a more accurate job if you let the program's Replace feature make the changes for you.

Most programs that work with text – including Windows 7's WordPad and Notepad programs – have the Replace feature.

## Click **Replace** (🌉).

**Note:** In many programs, you run the Find command by clicking **Edit** in the menu bar and then clicking the **Replace** command or by pressing **CIT** + **H**.



The Replace dialog box appears.

- 2 In the Find What text box, enter the text you want to find.
- Click in the Replace With text box and type the text you want to use as the replacement.
  - Click Find Next.



A The program selects the next instance of the search text.

**Note:** If the search text does not exist in the document, the program displays a dialog box to let you know.

- If the selected instance is not the one you want, click **Find Next** until the program finds the correct instance.
- Olick Replace.
  - B The program replaces the selected text with the replacement text.
  - G The program selects the next instance of the search text.
- 7 Repeat Steps **5** and **6** until you have replaced all of the instances you want to replace.
- 8 Click the **Close** button (**I**) to close the Replace dialog box.





To replace every instance of the search text with the replacement text, click Replace All in the Replace dialog box. You should exercise some caution with this feature because it may make some replacements that you did not intend.

# **PRINT A DOCUMENT**

When you need a hard copy of your document, either for your files or to distribute to someone else, you can get a paper copy by sending the document to your printer. If you happen to have more than one printer, you can specify which device you prefer to use for the document.

All programs enable you to specify in advance how many copies you want to print. In most cases, you can also tell the program to print only part of the document, if that is all you need.

- 54
- Turn on your printer.
- Open the document you want to print.









**Note:** In many programs, you can select the **Print** command by pressing **Cttl** + **P** or by clicking the **Print** button (**E**).



The Print dialog box appears.

**Note:** The layout of the Print dialog box varies from program to program. The WordPad version shown here is a typical example.

- *I*f you have more than one printer, click the printer you want to use.
- Ose the Number of copies (∃) to specify the number of copies to print.
- 7 Click Print.
  - Windows 7 prints the document. The print icon (E) appears in the taskbar's notification area while the document prints.



Most programs enable you to print only part of a document:

- ✓ Select the text you want to print; in the Print dialog box, click Selection (◎ changes to ●).
- ✓ Place the cursor on the page you want to print; in the Print dialog box, click Current Page (<sup>®</sup> changes to <sup>®</sup>).
- ✓ In the Print dialog box, click Pages (◎ changes to ●). In the text box, type the first page number, a dash (-), and the last page number (for example, 1-5).





# CONTENTS

- 58 Open the Pictures Library
- 59 Preview an Image
- 60 View Your Images
- 62 Scan an Image
- 64 Import Images from a Digital Camera
- 66 Repair a Digital Image
- 68 Print an Image



# WORKING WITH IMAGES

Whether you load your images from a device, download them from the Internet, or draw them yourself, Windows 7 comes with a number of useful tools for working with those images. For example, you can use the Pictures library to see a preview of an image and to open an image for viewing. You can also use Windows 7 to scan a photo or other image from a scanner, and you can import photos that you have taken with a digital camera. You can also make repairs to an image and print hard copies of your photos.



# **OPEN THE PICTURES LIBRARY**

Before you can work with your images, you need to view them on your computer. You do that by opening Windows 7's Pictures library, which is a special folder designed specifically for storing images.

As you see later in this chapter, you can use the Pictures library to preview an image and open an image file. Also, when you import an image using a scanner or digital camera, Windows 7 usually stores the resulting files in the Pictures library.



#### Click **Start**.

Click **Pictures**.



The Pictures library appears.

- de Auraina	Fictures I	ibrary					Groups &	y faile +
<ul> <li>III Geometra</li> <li>III Geometra</li> <li>I Mass</li> <li>III Mass</li> <li>III Mass</li> <li>III Mass</li> </ul>	-	Dista and	End Card Coloredia Jan	-	M	and the second	R	h
- Congodor	Brig Taul	A. A	1-lip	5	-	10	k.	壶
- Spinster	1	Ray 10	Case 10	Care In	Carto esta deste 1	Reak vite dratey d	Cast of Cast	Read Free
		-		-				-

# **PREVIEW AN IMAGE**

You can preview any saved image file using either the Details pane or the Preview pane in the Pictures library. The Details pane also displays details about the file, such as the file type, dimensions, and size. The Preview pane shows a larger preview of the image. You can also use the Preview pane to preview images stored in *subfolders* – folders stored within the main Pictures library.

- Click the image file you want to preview.
  - A The Details pane shows a small preview of the image.
  - B Details about the image file appear here.
- 2 Click Show the Preview Pane (III).

Windows 7 opens the Preview pane and displays a larger preview of the image.





# **VIEW YOUR IMAGES**

If you want to look at several images, you can use Windows Photo Viewer to navigate backwards and forwards through the images in the Pictures library.

You can also view the images in your Pictures library using Windows Live Photo Gallery, if you have that program installed on your computer. See Chapter 9 to learn how to install Windows Live Photo Gallery. You can use either program to zoom in and out of an image and to run an image slide show.

## View Images using Windows Photo Viewer

- Click the image.
- 2) Click the **Open** 🔄.
- Click Windows Photo Viewer.

The image opens in Windows Photo Viewer.

- 4 To get a closer look at the image, click the magnifying glass and then click and drag the slider up.
- 5 To view the next image in the folder, click the **Next** button (**III**).
- O To view the previous image in the folder, click the **Previous** button (■).
- To start a slide show of all the images in the folder, click the Play Slide Show button (

**Note:** To stop the slide show, press **Esc**.




#### View Images using Windows Live Photo Gallery



Click the image.

- 2 Click the **Open** 🔄.
- Click Windows Live Photo Gallery.

The image opens in Windows Live Photo Gallery.

- To see more of the image, click and drag the slider to the right.
- To view the next image in the folder, click the **Next** button (Im).
- 6 To view the previous image in the folder, click the **Previous** button (<sup>III</sup>).
- To start a slide show of all the images in the folder, click the Play Slide Show button (

**Note:** To stop the slide show, press **Esc**.





You can change the Picture folder's view to display large thumbnails – scaled-down versions of the actual images. Click the Views 🕤 and Extra Large Icons. 6

### **SCAN AN IMAGE**

You can create a digital copy of a photo or other image by using a document scanner, or the scanner component of an all-in-one printer. The scanner copies the image to your computer, where you can then store it as a file on your hard drive.

There are many ways you can use a scanned image. For example, you can scan a photo to e-mail to friends or publish on a Web page. You can also scan a logo or other image to use in a document.

- Turn on your scanner or all-in-one printer and position a photo or other image on the scanner bed.
  - Click Start.
  - Click **Devices and Printers**.



The Devices and Printers window appears.

- 4 Click the device you want to use to perform the scan.
  - Click **Start scan**.



The New Scan dialog box appears.

- Click the Profile I and then click **Photo**.
- 7

Click the **Resolution** 🗟 to specify the scan resolution.

**Note:** The higher the resolution, the sharper the image, but the larger the resulting file.



Click **Preview**.

A preview of the scan appears in the grey box.

Olick and drag the edges of the dashed rectangle to set the scan area.



Windows 7 scans the image.

The Importing Pictures and Videos dialog box appears.



describes the scan.



#### 12 Click Import.

Windows 7 imports the image to your computer.



Windows 7 stores scanned images in the Pictures library in a new folder, the name of which is the current date followed by the text you type in the Importing Pictures and Videos dialog box; for example, 2009-08-23 Flower.





Most scanners and all-in-one printers come with a Scan button that you can push to start a new scan. In Windows Fax and Scan, you can click New Scan. In Paint and Windows Live Photo Gallery, you can click File and then select the option to import from a camera or scanner.

### **IMPORT IMAGES FROM A DIGITAL CAMERA**

If you have used your digital camera to take pictures, you can use Windows 7 to import those photos from the camera and save them on your computer. If your camera stores the photos on a memory card, you can also use a memory card reader attached to your computer to upload the digital photos from the removable drive that Windows 7 sets up.

Once you have the digital photos on your system, you can view the photos, make repairs or adjustments to the files, or print the images.

Plug in your camera or memory storage card reader.

The AutoPlay dialog box appears.

2 Click Import Pictures and Videos using Windows.

The Import Pictures and Videos dialog box appears.

- 3 Type a word or phrase that describes the photos.
- Olick Import.





Windows 7 begins importing the digital photos.

S To have Windows 7 erase the photos from the camera or card, click Erase after importing (□ changes to ☑).

The Imported Pictures and Videos window appears and displays the recently imported photos.

6 When you have finished looking at your photos, click the Close button (☑) to close the window.







Windows 7 stores imported digital photos in the Pictures library in a new folder, the name of which is the current date followed by the text you type in the Importing Pictures and Videos dialog box. For example, 2009-08-23 Nassau Vacation.

# **REPAIR A DIGITAL IMAGE**

You can use Windows Live Photo Gallery to improve the look of digital photos and other images. Windows Live Photo Gallery includes a special Fix window that offers a number of tools for repairing various image attributes.

The Fix window enables you to adjust an image's brightness, contrast, colour temperature, tint, and saturation. You can also crop and rotate an image and fix red eye. Windows Live Photo Gallery also comes with a feature that can make many of these adjustments for you automatically. See Chapter 9 to learn how to download and install Windows Live Photo Gallery.

#### Click **Start**.

2 Click All Programs.

**Note:** When you click **All Programs**, the command name changes to Back.

- Click Windows Live.
- Click Windows Live Photo Gallery.
  - Windows Live Photo Gallery appears.
- Click the image you want to repair.
- 6 Click **Fix** to open the Fix window.





- 7 To change the exposure, click Adjust exposure and then click and drag the Brightness and Contrast sliders.
- To change the colour, click Adjust color and then click and drag the Color temperature, Tint, and Saturation sliders.
  - If you are not sure how to use these tools, click Auto adjust to have Photo Gallery make the adjustments for you.
- To remove red eye from a photo, click **Fix red eye**.
- To crop the picture, click **Crop photo**.
- Click the **Proportion** and choose a dimension.

**Note:** Click **Original** to keep the same relative height and width; click **Custom** to crop to any height and width.

- 2 Click and drag the handles to set the new size.
- Click Apply.
- When you are done, click Back to gallery.
  - When you take a vertical shot with your digital camera, the photo appears sideways when you download it to your computer. In the Fix window, click is to rotate the image counterclockwise; click is to rotate the image clockwise.





Windows Live Photo Gallery keeps a backup copy of the original image. If you do not like the repairs you made, you can undo your changes: click the image and then click Fix, Revert and Revert to Original (or press cm+c).

### **PRINT AN IMAGE**

You can print an image from the Pictures library, or from any subfolder in the Pictures library. When you activate the Print task, the Print Pictures dialog box appears. You can use this dialog box to choose a printer, the paper size, the printout quality, and a layout, and to send the image to the printer.

You can print a single image or multiple images. If you work with multiple images, you can print them individually or you can select a layout that prints two or more images per sheet.

In the Pictures library, select the image or images you want to print.



Click Print.



The Print Pictures dialog box appears.

- If you use more than one printer with your computer, click and click the printer you want to use.
- Click and click the size of paper you are using.
- Click 🔄 and click the printout quality you prefer.

**Note:** Print quality is measured in dots per inch (dpi). The higher the dpi value, the better the print quality.

Click the layout you want to use for the printed image.

The Wizard displays a preview of the printout.

- Click the Next button (▶) to see previews of other pages.
- 8 Click 🗄 to select the number of copies you want.
- 💿 Click **Print**.

The Wizard sends your image or images to the printer.



Photo-quality paper is designed to create a more permanent image and improve the resolution and colour of printed photographs. It comes in a variety of glossy and matte finishes. Be sure to select a paper that your printer manufacturer recommends.





# CONTENTS

- 72 Open and Close Windows Media Player
- 73 Navigate the Media Player Window
- 74 Use the Library
- 76 Play an Audio or Video File
- 77 Adjust the Volume
- 78 Play a Music CD
- 80 Copy Tracks from a Music CD
- 82 Create a Playlist
- 84 Burn Music Files to a CD
- 86 Play a DVD



# PLAYING MUSIC AND OTHER MEDIA

In Windows 7, you play music and other media using the Windows Media Player program. Windows Media Player stores your music files and other media in a special library, and you can use that library to browse your music and display the files by album, artist, genre, and more.

You can also use Windows Media Player to listen to audio files stored on your computer and to play CDs that you insert into your computer CD or DVD drive. Windows Media Player also enables you to watch video files, play DVD discs, and even create your own music CDs.



## OPEN AND CLOSE WINDOWS MEDIA PLAYER

Windows 7 includes Windows Media Player, which is the program you will use throughout this chapter. As you learn in the next few sections, you can use Windows Media Player to navigate your media library, play back and record audio files and music CDs, adjust the volume, as well as view video. To begin using the program, you must first learn how to open the Windows Media Player window.

When you finish using the program, you can close the Windows Media Player window to free up computer processing power.

- 2
- Click Windows Media Player () in the taskbar.

Note: If you do not see the Media Player icon, you can also click Start, click All Programs, and then click Windows Media Player.

> The first time you start the program, the Welcome to Windows Media Player dialog box appears.

- 2 Click Recommended settings ( $\bigcirc$  changes to  $\bigcirc$ ).
- Click Finish.

The Windows Media Player window appears.

When you have finished with Media Player, click the **Close** button  $(\mathbf{N})$  to close the window.

> The Windows Media Player window closes.







## NAVIGATE THE MEDIA PLAYER WINDOW

The Windows Media Player interface is not complicated, but it does pay to familiarise yourself with the various elements of the Windows Media Player window. This is useful because it helps you get more out of Windows Media Player and it ensures that you can easily navigate and activate elements when you are ready to play audio files or view videos and DVDs.

### Address Bar

This area shows your current location in the Media Player library.

### B Tabs

The tabs are links to the key features of Windows Media Player.

### 🕝 Toolbar

You can use the Media Player toolbar to access commands, change the view, and search for media.

### Details Pane

This pane displays information about the contents of the current library location, such as the album art and title, and the title and length of the song or video.

### Playback Controls

These buttons control how a video or music file plays and enable you to make adjustments to the sound.

### Navigation Pane

You use this pane to navigate the Media Player library's categories.



### **USE THE LIBRARY**

You can use the library feature in Windows Media Player to manage all of the media files on your computer, including audio files and videos. The library also enables you to organise other digital content, such as music CDs.

When you first start using Windows Media Player, the program automatically updates the library with the files already in your computer's media folders, such as Music and Videos.

#### Navigate the Library

- In the Navigation pane, click the category you want to use.
- If the category includes subcategories, click a subcategory to see its contents.
- 3 Double-click the item you want to use.

Media Player displays the contents of the item in the details pane.

- You can also click the items in the Address bar to return to a category or subcategory.
- 5 Click an arrow to see the contents of any Address bar item.





#### Change the Library View



2 Click the view you want to use.



Media Player changes the view.

Call a restaure	And F Jeans P						wy .
Dyrin - Nere -	Costa phylist -				12 -	- Annah	
	dam	Alexe adult	General	Televis year	Caunt	2mpth	Faile.
B Liney	204						
a Paster.	di Daya	Technike Versyl.	P.0.	2016	11	21-6	-
C date	artes lar	that .	Post .	190		114	-
() alturn	All Droughtenes	Seah Barrier	106	124	11	412	-
a video	Internet The Drillipse	then .	density	100	11	410	-
in Provided TV	Baller	Terlelised Legen	P-R-	200	11	170	-
E Generic En	General-IP	1985an	Fok .	206	1	149	sin
C they have	Dealers a Tree Dated	Tablerates	140	224	-	DIP	-
P Ped (millionitys)	Transfer .	Technik land	14	204	14	11.2	
	for loss	/ise loss	alternation	2018	11	300	sin
	Rowanth Text	Tellorate	Philippi	100	11	344	i i i

75

To search the entire library for a specific file, click Library in the Address bar. Otherwise, click the category you want to search. In the search box on the right of the toolbar, type a word or phrase. The matching media appear in the library.



The library automatically groups music into categories based on their media content information, also called metadata or tags. This includes information such as the file type, artist name, song title, rating, play count, and composer.

**CHAPTER 5** PLAYING MUSIC AND OTHER MEDIA

## PLAY AN AUDIO OR VIDEO FILE

Windows Media Player uses the library to play audio or video files that you store on your computer. When you select an audio file from a library folder and play it in Windows Media Player, you can switch to the Now Playing window to see a visualisation along with the song. You can also use the Now Playing window to control the playback of the audio or video.

When you want to choose a different song or video, you can switch back to the Windows Media Player library.

**CHAPTER 5** PLAYING MUSIC AND OTHER MEDIA

Use the library to navigate to the folder that contains the audio or video file that you want to play.

76

**Note:** See "Use the Library" to learn more about working with the library's folder.

- 2 Click the audio or video file.
- 🛐 Click the **Play** button (📘).
  - Click **Switch to Now Playing** (E) to view the album art while an audio file plays.

Windows Media Player begins playing the audio or video file.

Move the mouse ♀ into the Now Playing window.

The playback buttons appear, which enable you to control how the song or video plays.

**Note:** See "Play a Music CD" to learn more about the playback buttons.

Click Switch to Library (⊞) to return to the Media Player library.







# **ADJUST THE VOLUME**

While an audio or video file is playing, you can adjust the playback volume up or down to get the audio just right. You can adjust the playback volume whether you are playing the audio or video using the Windows Media Player library or the Now Playing window.

If you need to silence the audio or video temporarily, you can mute the playback.

# Adjust the Volume Using the Library

- Click and drag the **Volume** slider left (to reduce the volume) or right (to increase the volume).
- If you want to silence the playback, click the **Mute** button (1).

**Note:** To restore the volume, click the **Sound** button (

# Adjust the Volume in the Now Playing Window

The playback controls appear.

- 2 Click the and then drag the Volume slider left (to reduce the volume) or right (to increase the volume).
- To silence the playback, click the Mute button (...).

**Note:** To restore the volume, click the **Sound** button (





**CHAPTER 5** PLAYING MUSIC AND OTHER MEDIA

### PLAY A MUSIC CD

You can play your favourite music CDs in Windows Media Player. You can control some playback options, including skipping a track and pausing and resuming the playback, from the Now Playing window but you can also switch to the Media Player library for more options.

To play a music CD with Windows Media Player, your computer must have a CD or DVD drive.

- Insert a music CD into your computer's CD or DVD drive.
- Move the mouse 
   <sup>\(\beta\)</sup> within the Now Playing window.

The playback controls appear.

#### Skip a Track

- Click the **Next** button (IIII) to skip to the next track.
- Click the **Previous** button (III) to skip to the previous track.

#### Pause, Resume and Stop Play

- Click the Pause button (III) to pause playback.
- Click the Play button (I) to resume playback.
- Click the Stop button (I) to stop playback.

Click the **Play** button (**D**) to start the current song again.

#### 8 Click Switch to Library (E) to open the Media Player library window.





**CHAPTER 5** PLAYING MUSIC AND OTHER MEDIA

www.allitebooks.com

#### **Play Another Song**

In the Details pane, double-click the song you want to play.

Windows Media Player begins playing the song.

A This area displays the current song title, the album title, and the song composer.

#### Repeat the CD

Click the Turn Repeat On button (10).

> Windows Media Player restarts the CD after the last track finishes playing.

**Note:** To turn on repeat from the Now Playing window, press **Ctrl** + **1**.

#### Play Songs Randomly

Click the **Turn Shuffle On** button (🗵).

Windows Media Player shuffles the order of play.

**Note:** To turn on shuffle from the Now Playing window, press **Ctrl** + **H**.





You can configure the Now Playing window so that you can control the playback no matter what other programs are running on your PC. Rightclick the Now Playing window and then click Always show Now Playing on top.

## COPY TRACKS FROM A MUSIC CD

You can add tracks from a music CD to the library in Windows Media Player. This enables you to listen to an album without having to put the CD into your CD or DVD drive each time. The process of adding tracks from a CD is called **copying**, or **ripping**, in Windows 7.

You can rip an entire CD directly from the Now Playing window or you can rip selected tracks using the library.

#### **Rip an Entire CD Using the Now Playing Window**

Insert a CD into your computer's CD or DVD drive.

The Now Playing window appears.



#### 2) Click **Rip CD** (**0**).

Media Player begins ripping the entire CD.

#### **Rip Selected Tracks Using the** Librarv

Insert a CD into your computer's CD or DVD drive.

> When the Now Playing window appears, click Switch to Library.

Media Player displays a list of the CD's tracks.

2 Click the CD tracks that you do not want to copy ( $\blacksquare$  changes to  $\blacksquare$ ).

Click **Rip CD**.

Toma + Stan +	Distancion/10	* (11%)(7		3		12.4	Decole	10 - 10
() think	Mart Automatic		E. 4		144jth	No-1994	Combuling and	Complete
Physics .		having lost	85.1	Confidence	100		The Parkethers	Jahre L. Sarrason
Marie		The biglighters	121 2	Harm phile Madual D.	148		The Parkethers	John K. Samura
10, 1418	10000	Abonative	10.0	Robeitum Bargelan Vinlam	208		The Washinstore	Julya K. Lawrence
C Hitem	Lat 1		10.4	Tournament of Hughs	108		The Washershare	John K. Lanson
- Direct	March 1	2	0.8	vinacioni a luparo	100		The presentations	plattice for the ministry
15 Tales			10.4	they the burg meeting	24		The internet site	pales 6. Lawrence
- Pones			10.1	Sumin as Bright these	4.00		The Production	rates 4, Samoore
op Recorded TV		2	- El #	regit middwi	4.05		The Washortham	Alter & Samuel
(D Otworkella			10.0	Byhot	107		The Parkethers	July Chevron
<ul> <li>Revise Tex (0)</li> </ul>			10.30	Reason True	248		The Washerbare	Index K. Lawrence
Case Wei		2	0.4	Utilian	1.0		The Hasherbarn	Jahrs L. Larman
P AtoriJania								
P Peul (makteuritya)								
Tites out -								



Windows Media Player begins copying the track or tracks.

A The Rip Status column displays the copy progress.

- B After each file is copied, the Rip Status column displays a Ripped to Library message.
- C The copy is complete when all the tracks you selected display the Ripped to Library status.





œ

 $\square$ 

To remove a track from the library, click Music, click Album, and then double-click the album that you ripped to display a list of the tracks. Right-click the track that you want to remove and click Delete.



You can adjust the quality of the copies by changing the bit rate, which is a measure of how much of the CD's original data gets copied to your computer. Click Rip Settings, Audio Quality and then click the value you want.

### **CREATE A PLAYLIST**

You can create a custom music experience by creating your own playlist. Normally, the Windows Media Player library takes the music tracks you copy from a music CD, or the songs you store on your computer hard drive, or download from the Internet, and organises them in preset categories, such as album, artist, and genre. For something different, you can take tracks from multiple categories and add them to a separate playlist, which enables you to play only the songs that you want to hear.

#### Click Create playlist.

Windows Media Player creates a new playlist folder.



- Type a name for the new playlist.
- 3 Press Esc.

Carlos a President	P Man P M men	K					Bay	Barn Arme
lyria - Jose	- Craits phylot	-				- 1	- dravet	P -
and the second	allows			24	Geoph	Balling -	Centralisative artist	Corport
al Paulos	-6	Balden	4	The Little of Disks	4.04	00000	The Residence Toronoo	Photonal Austor Na
1 Ballines	<b>- 2</b>	The Re Book Tanyas	2	Ension Talaphane	463	1004010	The Review Property	Farst Davidy front
12 Marin		108	2	Baie AntiGapu	364		The Ballions Threase	Test
il, ibrie		200	+	LANCE ADDRESS	408	STATUTE OF	The Distance Toronto.	100.0110.004
O Heart	Section 2.			Only for The Past	4.08	00000	The De Done of Toronto.	First Frank Ser.
(D 9494	and the second second			The Case-Case Red	4.00		The Dr. Done Toront	Test.
a Valee			т	Department of State State	4.66	00000	The De Logal Torque	Parking Lancente
C Pature			4	Mansiang	18.0.0	10000111	The Review Torons	Parel Pressy Parel
m Pesaniel TV			۰.	Ben/You/M	3.08	99910	The Review Through	Family Garagette-
IP One nais			81	tig Against The Wall	248	STATUTE OF	The Ballions Toroise	First Francisco.
Cure Mills			81	UT Delatté	417	Sector 1	The Distance Terrory	Traffic
2 994 N 64			ы	Eght Brough FacTored	4.08	000111	The Division Trayers	Carl Frence
P Obstations	KOMP -	Motherfalles.	1	Man Durite Person	104		The Diffy frame	Any Indiana.
P Ped Inulficial	And	Thi Pity Risk	2	Longs 21th on Linksole	343		The Dirty Greek	Anter Derivate A
	and the second s	1 NA		Fgt.Angle	200		The Party Pages	And Incide A.
	- Distant	20 200		utuninum (as	306		The Billy Incols	Amp Samuel A.
	10000	5	5	NUMBER AND	315		The DWA PADE	Americana A.
-	An is site.			D-D-c Reptone	208	000000	The Dilly Trips	ARE DENIE AL
Marchard States			τ.	King Dama	343	00000	The Ditty Proce	Alter Definition Au-
				Waking Kit In the City	343		The Ditty Dates	Alter DePate L.

Click and drag items from the library and drop them on the playlist.



5 Click the playlist.

The Details pane shows the songs you added.

- 6 Click and drag the songs to change the playlist order.
- Click Play (I) to listen to the playlist.



8

 $\checkmark$ 

By default, Media Player's Navigation pane is configured to show only the five most recent playlists. If you prefer to see all your playlists, right-click any item in the Navigation pane and then click Customize navigation pane. Click the All check box under the Playlists branch ( changes to ).

To add items to an existing playlist, repeat Step 4 for other items. You can also locate the song you want to add, rightclick, click Add to, and then click the name of the playlist.

### **BURN MUSIC FILES TO A CD**

You can copy, or **burn**, music files from your computer onto a CD. Burning CDs is a great way to create customised CDs that you can listen to on the computer, in your car, through a stereo system, or in a portable device.

With Windows Media Player, you create a list of the songs that you want to add to the CD. You then burn the music files to the CD from within the Windows Media Player window.

To burn music files to a CD with Windows Media Player, your computer must have a recordable CD or DVD drive, and you must have a blank recordable CD disc.

- Insert a blank CD into your computer's recordable CD drive.
- Click the **Burn** tab.
  - A The Burn list appears.
- Click and drag items from the library and drop them inside the Burn list.

Repeat Step **3** to add more files to the Burn list.



- B Windows Media Player adds the files to the Burn list.
- Windows Media Player updates the approximate time remaining on the disc.

Click Start burn.

Windows Media Player converts the files to CD tracks and copies them to the CD.



The Burn tab shows the progress of the burn.

**Note:** When the recording is complete, Windows Media Player automatically ejects the disc. Do not attempt to eject the disc yourself before the burn is finished.

					1.00	-
er in John In Kathum					By Bre	1,
Coale plant #		T = Invol		P + 0	C throw Dank	- 62
Burn Mark	*	184	Langth	totop *	CONSTRAINT.	
Arear Paul	3	by set charac	10	00000		0
And and a state of the local division of the	2	Jack Fey Dark Na	342	20000	and the second second	C
Contraction of the local data		End litter	3.01	00000	4	
200	4	<b>Amains</b>	34.	00000		
1 Caller		Autory lander	14.84	100000		2
		Investigent	14.00		Designee	1
		SHID! Real	30	00000	Caracteria. Toronto.	-
		fail the Ces	404	100000	TRUE - The Submarries	
		Destre	359	99000	You, the and the Bourgebook	100
	32	Home Path Mar	1.25		Summer Friday - The Date Paper	
	-	Discovieri Daticis	307		Angel fully as histories - To-OL	28
	10	Ng Salari	484		Report transfer from home	- 267
		Builtriate	346		Your Proventer - Frenchum,	
In Provider					Whitew's Energy 1 Jap Constitution	100
In Process		Mar Party Montes	48		Berne Sana Rey - Light Street Second	2.00
Internet mene		history	4.00		Party pice person the contract	
Internet An		Definition	18		Sumper Ward- Chillen	100
100	1.0	Lan de	350		Der's Rate-Station	100
And a state of the	- 1	The Realmant State Time	10		Jaho Real (Deliverie) - Mathem	-
The reaction of the second sec		ine artest	441		Sampler Farmer	100
		The Mile	1.00	Orange and	Contradio - Farmal	28
		In-these board for such	457	COLORA COL	Long Lon, Contract,	- 10
		Distance:	347	100000	des store. The matter beings	100

unie # Julie in Konture					Try Am	1,	
Caro payor. #		T . Devit			O tanative David.		
/Burk		703	Congle.	thing. *		-	
Among Mani					Address Address		
Arner Red	1	Survei Chever	3.01	000000	-	Ľ	
Contraction of the local division of the loc	1	Lost IncoDerinitia	348	00000	MARK Surving The sample	-	
- 80. Int.		Red laters	3-08				
100	4	Imaina	343		Real Provide		
1000		Last Politica	2.04	00000	Rancia -		
	4	Unicipant	10.01		Om1/204		
		Smith Total	313	000000	Carson and the Instantion	20	
		Inclusion:	434		stope. The Schmadner	254	
		Seales .	3.86	00000	You, he and he housedow	24	
	21	Harrar Title Ba	3.08		Business Parce - The Party Steps	-	
	12	Domini Dates	347		Angel With as Millinds - Tra-Cil.	28	
	10	Redator	488		Regnel Wood - Frei Furm.	30	
	14	Bullying	144		You Parametric Construct	-	
Na Provinte					Widow's Denne 1.19 Const Da-	-	
Kaultinaisia		Info Part's Patronian	4.00		Same Line Bry - Lips, american	100	
Contact of Some		Support of the local data	404		And the period the course	100	
STATES IN		Deficits	3.01		Antope Wand - Chillion		
202	4	Tanile .	344		Der Metz- Colore		
and the second se	1	Definiqueitlei Ten	101		And feul stational, Station	-	
		The phine	443		A REAL PROPERTY AND A REAL	10	
		No. No.	3.00		Territor internet	- 10	
		Excitization of Taxantee	418		Take and the second		
		Codmany Day	347	-	Designed on party study	-	

8

You can rearrange the tracks before burning. Perhaps the easiest method is to click and drag a track and then drop it in the list location you prefer. You can also click Burn options (<sup>[]</sup>) and then Shuffle list or Sort list by and then click a sort order.

If you have more music than can fit on a single disc, you can still add all the music you want to burn to the Burn list. Windows Media Player fills the first disc and then prompts you to insert a second disc.

**CHAPTER 5** PLAYING MUSIC AND OTHER MEDIA

### PLAY A DVD

You can use Windows Media Player to play DVDs. Windows Media Player enables you to watch any multimedia items stored on a DVD, such as movies and video footage.

You can control how a DVD plays by using the controls in the Windows Media Player window, including volume and playback controls. You can also navigate to different scenes using the list of tracks in the Playlist pane. All scenes, or tracks, stem from a root menu that directs you to the DVD's contents.

Insert a DVD into your computer's DVD drive.

> If your DVD begins playing as soon as you insert it, you can skip Steps **2** and **3**.

- In Windows Media Player, click the DVD in the Navigation pane.
  - Click **Play** (**D**).

Windows Media Player plays the DVD and displays the DVD's menu.

- DVD menu items can vary in appearance and use different layouts.
- Olick the menu item or feature you want to access.

Windows Media Player begins playback.





86

Windows Media Player displays the playback controls.

#### Stop and Start a DVD

- 6 Click the Stop button (I) to stop the DVD playback.
- Click the Play button (I) to restart the playback from the beginning.
- You can click the **Pause** button (III) to pause the playback if you want to resume playing (III) in the same scene.

#### **Navigate Scenes**

- Olick the **Previous** button (III) to jump to the previous scene.
- Click the Next button (Im) to jump to the next scene.
- You can also rewind or fastforward the DVD by clicking and dragging the Seek slider.

#### Use the DVD Options

#### 🔟 Click the **DVD** 💽.

Windows Media Player displays a list of DVD options.

You can use the DVD options to return to the main menu, select special features, and display the DVD full-screen.



Click Root menu.

The DVD's opening menu appears in the Windows Media Player window.

The root menu typically displays links to the various segments, features, or clips on the DVD. In full-screen view, right-click on the DVD screen, click DVD features, and then click Root menu.





# CONTENTS

- 90 View Your Files
- 92 Select a File
- 94 Change the File View
- **95** Preview a File
- **96** Copy a File
- 97 Move a File
- 98 Burn Files to a CD or DVD
- **100** Rename a File
- Create a New File
- **Delete a File**
- **103** Restore a Deleted File
- **104** Search for a File

6

# WORKING WITH FILES

This chapter shows you how to work with the files on your computer. These easy and efficient methods show you how to perform the most common file tasks, including viewing files, selecting files, copying and moving files, and renaming files. In this chapter you also learn how to burn files to a recordable CD or DVD disc and how to create new folders to hold your files. You also learn how to delete a file that you no longer need, as well as how to restore a file that you deleted accidentally. Finally, you also learn how to use Windows 7's powerful search feature to help you locate the file you need.



### **VIEW YOUR FILES**

You can view the files you create, as well as those stored on your hard drive that you download and copy to your computer. All your files are stored in folders on your computer's hard drive. Some of your files will be in the main libraries that are part of your user profile – including Documents, Music, and Pictures – but you may have other files within subfolders of those libraries.

If you want to open or work with those files, you first need to open the appropriate library or subfolder to view them.



#### Click **Start**.

Click your user name.



Windows 7 displays your user folder.

Bouble-click the folder you want to view.



Windows 7 displays the contents of the folder including subfolders.

If the files you want to view are stored in a subfolder, double-click the subfolder.

Windows 7 displays the contents of the subfolder.





To view files on removable media, insert the media into the appropriate drive or slot on your computer. If you see the AutoPlay window, click Open folder to view files. Otherwise, click Start, Computer and then doubleclick the device that contains the files you want to view. In Windows 7, the four main document storage areas – Documents, Music, Pictures, and Videos – are set up as libraries, consisting of two or more folders. For example, the Documents library contains My Documents and Public Documents. To add a folder to a library, click the locations link and then click Add.

St. Second

7 Nove State 🙆 Printe

### **SELECT A FILE**

Whether you want to rename a file, make a copy of a file, move several files to a new location, or delete some files, you first have to select the file or files so that Windows 7 knows exactly the ones you want to work with.

Although you learn specifically about selecting files in this section, the technique for selecting folders is exactly the same.



### Select a Single File

- Open the folder containing the file.
- 2 Click the file.

#### Select Multiple Files

- Open the folder containing the files.
- 2 Click the first file you want to select.
- Press and hold cm and click each of the other files you want to select.



#### Select a Group of Files

- Open the folder containing the files.
- Position the mouse <sup>k</sup> slightly above and slightly to the left of the first file in the group.
- Click and drag the mouse & down and to the right until all the files in the group are selected.

#### **Select All Files**

- Open the folder containing the files.
- 2 Click **Organize**.

#### 3 Click Select all.

Windows Explorer selects all the files in the folder.

**Note:** A quick way to select all the files in a folder is to press Ctrl + A.





 $\overline{\checkmark}$ 

To deselect a single file from a multiple-file selection, press and hold Cm and click the file you want to deselect. To deselect all files, click an empty area within the folder. To reverse a selection – swap the selected and deselected files – click Edit, Invert Selection.

### **CHANGE THE FILE VIEW**

You can configure how Windows 7 displays the files in a folder by changing the file view. This enables you to see larger or smaller icons or the details of each file.

Choose a view such as Small Icons to see more files in the folder window. For files that show preview thumbnails instead of icons – such as pictures and videos – choose a view such as Large Icons or Extra Large Icons to get a better look at the thumbnails.

If you want to see more information about the files, choose either Tiles view or Details view.

- Open the folder containing the files you want to view.
- 2 Click the Views to open the Views list.





A The slider points to the current view. You can also click and drag the slider to select a view.

Windows Explorer changes the file view (to Tiles, in this example).



94

### **PREVIEW A FILE**

Windows 7 enables you to view the contents of some files without opening them. This makes it easier to select the file you want to work with.

One way to preview a file is to switch to a view that shows preview thumbnails, such as Large Icons or Extra Large Icons. However, to get a larger preview and to preview a wider variety of file types, you need to open Windows Explorer's Preview pane.

Windows 7 previews only certain types of files, such as text documents, rich text documents, Web pages, images, and videos.

- Open the folder containing the file you want to preview.
- Click the **Preview pane** icon (**D**).

E Delday	Pictures librar Na Cat Galerán 20	N IN				America Para
a formowit	Hara	Data	Top	Sec	Date: g	
E Perert Pieces	E 11	DOM: NO. OF TAXABLE PARTY.	Film servers	100.00		2
	10 10	LEXEPTER IN		2020-00		
R Canada	AL 10	LOCORDAY NO.		COM AN		
A Maria	E 04	EXCEPTION OF ANY	First sectors.	2,00,00		
an Ballanti	10.00	LONDONE NO 4 PM		2282.48		
HE VAN	20 M	1140308451954		273.48		
an energy	2.17	LINCTRO-LIN PM		4,011 (3)		
a more proved	L 18	1200208H4HPM		4,011 (2)		
	8.19	13/03/04/56PM		2.23148		
Computer	EE 10	LORODER NO PM		550168		
	E 11	TO BARRY TO DAY	First Lennes	2,03,03		
and the second second	8.12	1340/09/8451 PM		LASE		

The Preview pane appears.

- A
- The file's contents appear in the Preview pane.
- 3 You can click and drag the left border of the Preview pane to change its size.
- When you are finished with the Preview pane, click is to close it.

dans . Wind	ope 7 put pipe. P	and divided group	Balan Scholers			1.4	1
E Delta	Pictures library No Coll Colorise 2019		deale	grip. false	-		f
3 00+104B	Harra	24	Top .	Sec	Dates		5
E Perert Pieces	2.1	DOM: NO. OF TAXABLE PARTY.	Film servers	100.00			4
and a start of the	10.10	URSCHPTCHE IN		2020-00		Manager and Party and Party and	
Distance.	AL 10	Lincolector PM		2100 Kill		ALC: NO ADDRESS	
in the second second	E 18	10100 000 1.0. MM	First service	2,004,00		1.000	
a that	10.00	LONG DRIVEN A PM		1000110			
R. Polices	2 M	110030845394		2,879 (8)		ACCORD NO.	
A AND	2.0	LINCON-LINPA		ALC: N		Participants of	
	C 18	120220844494		4,000 420		and the second second	
d wanted and	A 19	130/2004/5284		2.21148		and the second	
Concerne 1	E2 10	LINCOM NO PM		5167.68			
- canitrate	12 12	DOD WHEN DOD AND	Directorian a	2484			
a man-ont	8.12	12/0/2019/451 PM		LADINE			
	-						

### **COPY A FILE**

You can make an exact copy of a file, which is useful if you want to make a backup of an important file on a flash drive, memory card, or other removable disk, or if you want to send the copy on a disk to another person.

This section shows you how to copy a single file, but the steps also work if you select multiple files, as described earlier in this chapter in the "Select a File" section. You can also use these steps to copy a folder.

- Open the folder containing the file you want to copy.
- 2 Select the file.
- 3 Click **Organize**.
- Click Copy.

Windows 7 places a copy of the file in a special memory location called the *clipboard*.

- 5 Open the location you want to use to store the copy.
- Click **Organize**.
  - Click **Paste**.

7

Windows 7 inserts a copy of the file in the location.




## **MOVE A FILE**

When you need to store a file in a new location, the easiest way is to move the file from its current folder to another folder on your computer.

This section shows you how to move a single file, but the steps also work if you select multiple files, as described earlier in this chapter in the "Select a File" section. You can also use these steps to move a folder.

- Open the folder containing the file you want to move.
- Select the file.
- Click Organize.
- 4 Click Cut.

Windows 7 removes the file from the folder and places it in a special memory location called the *clipboard*.

- 5 Click the new location you want to use for the file.
- Click **Organize**.

#### Click Paste.

7

Windows 7 inserts the file in the new location.





## BURN FILES TO A CD OR DVD

If your computer has a recordable CD or DVD drive, you can copy - or burn - files andfolders to a recordable disc. This enables you to store a large amount of data in a single place for convenient transport, storage or backup.

To burn files, your computer must have a recordable CD or DVD drive and you must have a blank recordable CD or DVD disc

If you want to copy music files to a CD, see the "Burn Music Files to a CD" section in Chapter 5.

Insert a recordable disc into your recordable CD or DVD drive.

The AutoPlay dialog box appears.

Click Burn files to disc.



If you have never used the disc for burning files, the Burn a Disc dialog box appears.

- 3 Type a title for the disc.
- Click Like a USB flash drive ( $\bigcirc$  changes to  $\bigcirc$ ).
- Click Next. 5

Windows 7 formats the disc and displays a dialog box to show you the progress.

🜀 🛛 Click **Close** (🔤) when the format is complete and the AutoPlay dialog box appears.



80

- Open the folder containing the files you want to copy to the disc.
- Select the files. 8
  - If you selected more than 15 files and you want to see the total size of the selection. click Show more details. The Size in the Details pane shows the total size of the selected files.



#### Click **Burn**. 9

Note: If you want to copy everything in the folder to the disc, do not select any file or folder and click **Burn**.

> Windows 7 burns the files to the disc.

Windows 7 opens the disc and displays the copied files.

- Repeat Steps **7** to **9** to burn more files to the disc.
- m
- Open the disc folder.

#### 12 Click **Close session**.

Windows 7 closes the disc session to allow the disc to be used on other computers.



This message appears while the disc is being closed.

When the Closing Session message disappears, click **Eject**.

Windows 7 ejects the disc.





To erase and reuse a disc, click Start, Computer. Right-click the disc icon and click Format. Type a new name for the disc, if desired, in the Format dialog box and click Start.

### **RENAME A FILE**

You can change the names of your files, which is useful if the current name of a file does not accurately describe its contents. By giving your documents descriptive names, you make it easier to find the file you want.

Make sure that you rename only those documents that you have created yourself or that someone else has given to you. Do not rename any of the Windows 7 system files or any files associated with your programs, or your computer may behave erratically or crash.

- Open the folder that contains the file you want to rename.
- Click the file.
  - Click Organize.

**Note:** In addition to renaming files, you can also rename any folders that you create yourself.

#### Click **Rename**.

4

A text box appears around the file name.

**Note:** You can also select the Rename command by clicking the file and then pressing **E2**.

5 Type the new name you want to use for the file.

**Note:** The name you type can be up to 255 characters long, but it cannot include the following characters: < > , ? : " \ \*.

**Note:** To abort renaming the file, press **Esc** to cancel the operation.

6 Press Enter or click an empty section of the folder.

The new name appears under the file's icon.





## **CREATE A NEW FILE**

You can quickly create a new file directly within a file folder. You normally create a new file by opening the appropriate programs, pulling down the File menu, and then choosing the New command, as explained in the "Create a Document" section in Chapter 3. However, creating a new file directly within a folder is faster, and often more convenient, than running a program's New command because you do not need to open a program to create the file.

- Open the folder in which you want to create the file.
- Right-click an empty section of the folder.
- 3 Click New.
- 4 Click the type of file you want to create.

**Note:** If you click **Folder**, Windows 7 creates a new subfolder.

**Note:** The New menu on your system may contain more items than you see here because some programs install their own file types.

- An icon for the new file appears in the folder.
- 5 Type the name you want to use for the new file.
- O Press Enter.





### **DELETE A FILE**

When you have a file that you no longer need, instead of leaving the file to clutter your hard drive, you can delete it.

Make sure that you delete only those documents that you have created yourself or that someone else has given to you. Do not delete any of the Windows 7 system files or any files associated with your programs, or your computer may behave erratically or crash.

If you happen to delete a file accidentally, you can usually recover it.

- Open the folder that contains the file you want to delete.
- 2 Click the file you want to delete.

**Note:** If you need to remove more than one file, select all the files you want to delete.

- 3 Click Organize.
  - Click **Delete**.

4

**Note:** Another way to select the Delete command is to press **Da**.

The Delete File dialog box appears.



The file disappears from the folder.

**Note:** Another way to delete a file is to click and drag it to the desktop's Recycle Bin icon.





### **RESTORE A DELETED FILE**

If you delete a file in error, Windows 7 enables you to restore the file by placing it back in the folder from which you deleted it.

You can restore a deleted file because Windows 7 moves each deleted file from its original folder to a special folder called the Recycle Bin, where the file stays for a few days or a few weeks, depending on how often you empty the Recycle Bin or how full the folder becomes.

The Recycle Bin folder appears.

- 2 Click the file you want to restore.
  - Click **Restore this item**.

3

Double-click the desktop

Recycle Bin icon.

The file disappears from the Recycle Bin and reappears in its original folder.



## **SEARCH FOR A FILE**

After you have used your computer for a while and have created many documents, you might have trouble locating a specific file. This is particularly true if you use your computer frequently, because you might have thousands of your own files stored in various folders throughout the hard drive. You can save a great deal of time by having Windows 7 search for your document.

Windows 7 searches not only for documents, but also for e-mail messages, contacts, Internet Explorer favorites, applications, and more.

### Search from the Start Menu

- Click Start.
- 2 Click the Search box and type your search text.
  - As you type, Windows 7 displays the programs, documents, and other data on your system with a name that matches your search text.
- If you see the program or document you want, click it to open it.

### Search from a Folder Window

- Open the folder in which you want to search.
- 2 Click the Search box.





#### **CHAPTER 6 WORKING WITH FILES**

#### 3 Type your search text.

As you type, Windows 7 displays the folders and documents in the current folder with names, contents, or keywords that match your search text.

If you see the folder or document you want, double-click it to open it.



#### Save a Search

- Run the search you want to save.
- 2 Click Save Search.

The Save As dialog box appears.

3 Type a file name for the search.

#### 4 Click Save.

Windows 7 saves the search file in the Favorites area. Click the file to rerun your search.

GO-Patents	nalls in Music 🕨	
Organica * Seveloper	- 2	8.00
Freehas Devitop Dovrtoets Rocert Roces Sorgo Roest Love	Diane As	• • • • Irush Isavites []
	File names Songs About Love - Several Special Search	-3
Giji Librarka	Authors Red	Tago Add atag
e& Homegroup	· Encourt Falalers	
R Computer	Stan	Sc 1214
27 bess		

## CONTENTS

- **108** Display User Accounts
- **109** Create a User Account
- IIO Switch Between Accounts
- **112** Change a User's Name
- **114** Change a User's Picture
- Delete an Account
- **118** Create a Homegroup
- I 20 Connect to a Wireless Network



## SHARING YOUR COMPUTER WITH OTHERS

If you share your computer with other people, you can create separate user accounts so that each person works only with his own documents, programs, and Windows 7 settings. This chapter shows you how to view and create user accounts, log on and off different accounts, change a user's name and picture, and delete accounts you no longer need.

In this chapter you also learn about Windows 7's homegroup feature, which makes it easy to share documents, music, photos and other files with people on your network.



## **DISPLAY USER ACCOUNTS**

To create, change, or delete user accounts, you need to display Windows 7's Manage Accounts window.

If you share your computer with other people, you can run into problems because each person wants his own programs, documents, and settings. To solve these problems, you can create a separate user account for each person. A *user account* is a kind of profile that Windows 7 maintains for a single person. That profile gives each user his own collection of folders and settings, and allows each user to install his own programs. When a person logs into his account, he does not see the profile of any other user.

### D Click **Start**.

#### Click Control Panel.

The Control Panel window appears.

# Click Add or remove user accounts.

**Note:** If the User Account Control dialog box appears, click **Continue** or type an administrator password and click **Submit**.

The Manage Accounts window appears.

- An administrator account is created when you install Windows 7. When you start Windows 7, you log on with this account.
- B The Guest account is a limited permission account. To turn on the Guest account, click **Guest** and then click **Turn On**.
- Click the Close button (X) to close the Manage Accounts window.





## **CREATE A USER ACCOUNT**

If you want to share your computer with another person, you need to create a user account for that individual. If you supply a password with an account, then only people who know that password can access the account's files, programs, and settings. This is an excellent security precaution, so you should safeguard each account with a password.

Note that you must be logged on to Windows 7 with an administrator account or know an administrator's password to create a user account.

- In the Manage Accounts window, click Create a new account.
- 2 Type the name you want to use for the new account.
- Click the account type you want (
   (
   changes to
   ).
- Click Create Account.

Windows 7 creates the user account.

### Create a Password

Click the user account.

- Click Create a password.
- 3 Type the password.

The password characters appear as dots for security reasons.

- Type the password again.
- 5 Type a hint that will help you or the user remember the password.
- Click Create password.

Windows 7 adds the password to the account.





## SWITCH BETWEEN ACCOUNTS

After you have created more than one account on your computer, you can switch between accounts. This is useful when one person is already working in Windows 7 and another person needs to use the computer.

One way to do this would be to have the current user log off and then have the other user log on. This works, but it is often inconvenient, particularly if the original user wants to resume working when the other user is finished with the computer.

To avoid this problem, you can switch from one account to another. In this case, Windows 7 leaves the original user's programs and windows running so that after the second person is finished, the original user can log on again and continue working as before.



### Click Start.

- The current user's name and picture appear on the Start menu.
- 2 Click the power button arrow  $(\mathbf{\mathbb{N}})$  to display the menu.
  - Click Switch user.



The Welcome screen appears.

Click the user account you want to switch to.



If the account is protected by a password, the password box appears.

**Note:** See "Protect an Account with a Password" in Chapter 10 for more details.

- Type the password.
  - Click the **Go** button (**[**]).





6

The Start menu now shows:



the user's name

the user's picture





When you set up your password, Windows 7 asks you to supply a hint to help you remember the password. If you cannot remember your password, click the Go button (Im). Click OK to return to the Welcome screen and Windows 7 displays the password hint.

## **CHANGE A USER'S NAME**

If the user name you are using now is not suitable for some reason, you can change to a different name. If you are running Windows 7 under an administrator account, then you can also change the name of any other user on the system.

When you change the user's name, you are changing the name that appears on the Start menu, in the Manage Accounts window, and on the Windows 7 Welcome screen.

Display the Manage Accounts window.

**Note:** See "Display User Accounts," earlier in this chapter, to learn how to display the Manage Accounts window.

Click the user account you want to work with.

The Change an Account window appears.

$Click\ \mathbf{Change}\ \mathbf{the}\ \mathbf{account}$
name.



Change the picture Set up Court Mode Set up Personal Controls Change the account type Debte the account Manage another account The Rename Account window appears.



Type the new name.

**Note:** The name cannot be any longer than 20 characters and cannot include any of the following characters: , < > / ? ; : " [ ] \ | = + \*

**Note:** The name cannot be the same as the computer's name.



#### Click Change Name.

- The new name appears in the user's window.

Click Manage another **account** to return to the Manage Accounts window.



5

- -r

Dange/Lana Canal

😳 🌨 🧶 🖛 Managa Accounts 🖌 Changa an Account 🕨 Ramama Account

Karens\_Account Standard user Persional protected

Kange

Type a new account name for Karens\_Account's account

1

This same will appear on the Vielcome screen was on the Stat menu.



To check the computer name, click Start, Control Panel, System and Security, and See the name of this computer. In the System window, look for the Computer Name setting.

## **CHANGE A USER'S PICTURE**

Windows 7 assigns a random picture to each new user account. This picture appears in the Manage Accounts window, the Welcome screen, and on the Start menu. If you do not like your picture or if you have a more suitable picture that you would prefer to use, you can change your picture. You can either use one of the three dozen pictures that Windows 7 provides or you can use one of your own pictures, such as a photo or drawing.

Display the Manage Accounts window.

**Note:** See "Display User Accounts", earlier in this chapter, to learn how to display the Manage Accounts window.

Click the user account you want to work with.

The Change an Account window appears.

#### Click Change the picture.





CHAPTER 7 SHARING YOUR COMPUTER WITH OTHERS

The Choose Picture window appears.

To use one of your own pictures, click Browse for more pictures.

The Open dialog box appears.

- Open the folder containing the picture you want to use.
- 6 Click the picture.
- Click Open to use that picture or Cancel to return to the standard pictures.

The Choose Picture window appears.

- 8 Click the picture you want to use.
  - Click Change Picture.

The user's window appears and displays the new picture.







## **DELETE AN ACCOUNT**

You can delete a user's account when it is no longer needed. This reduces the number of users in the Manage Accounts window and on the Welcome screen, which makes those screens easier to navigate.

Deleting an account can also free up some disk space. When you delete an account, Windows 7 asks if you want to keep the user's files on the computer, including the user's documents, music, pictures, and video. If you choose not to keep those files, Windows 7 deletes them from the hard drive, thus freeing up the disk space they used.

- 9 |
- Display the Manage Accounts window.

**Note:** See "Display User Accounts", earlier in this chapter, to learn how to display the Manage Accounts window.

Click the user account you want to delete.



The Change an Account window appears.

#### Click **Delete the account**.



The Delete Account window appears.

- Click to specify whether you want to keep or delete the user's personal files.
  - Click Keep Files to retain the user's personal files. The contents of the Documents folder and desktop are saved on your desktop in a folder named after the user. All other personal items – settings, e-mail accounts and messages, and Internet Explorer favorites – are deleted.
  - B Click Delete Files to delete all of the user's personal files, settings, messages, and favorites.

The Confirm Deletion window appears.

#### Click **Delete Account**.

Windows 7 deletes the account.





STOP

If yours is the only administrator account left on the computer, Windows 7 does not allow you to delete it. Windows 7 requires that there is always at least one administrator account on the computer.

## **CREATE A HOMEGROUP**

You can share documents and media easily with other Windows 7 computers by creating a homegroup on your network. A homegroup simplifies network sharing by making it easy to share documents, pictures, music, videos, and even printers.

You use one Windows 7 computer to create the homegroup and assign it a password. You then use the password to join your other Windows 7 computers to the homegroup.

#### Click **Start**.

Click **Documents**.

The Documents library appears.



- 3 Click **Homegroup**.
- Click Create a homegroup.



The Create a Homegroup Wizard appears.

- Click the check box for each type of file you want to share with the homegroup ( changes to ).
  - Click **Next**.

6

Windows 7 creates the homegroup.

The Create a Homegroup Wizard displays the homegroup password.

- 7 Write down the homegroup password.
- 8 Alternatively, you can click to print the password.
- 💿 Click **Finish**.

You can now join your other Windows 7 computers to the homegroup.



If you lose the homegroup password, click Start, Control Panel. Under Network and Internet, click Choose homegroup and sharing options. Click the View or print homegroup password link to see your password.

## **CONNECT TO A WIRELESS NETWORK**

If you have a wireless access point in your home or office, and you have a wireless network adapter installed on your computer, you can connect to the access point to access your network. If your wireless access point is connected to the Internet, then connecting to the wireless network gives your computer Internet access, as well.

Most wireless networks are protected with a security key, which is a kind of password. If your wireless network requires a security key, be sure you know the key before attempting to connect.

 Click the **Network** icon () in the taskbar's notification area.

Windows 7 displays a list of wireless networks in your area.

Windows 7 displays the Unsecured icon () for networks not protected by a security key.

Click your network.

To have Windows 7 connect to your network automatically in the future, click the Connect automatically check box ( changes to ).

#### Olick Connect.

If the network is protected by a security key, Windows 7 displays the Connect to a Network window.





### Type the security key.

**Note:** If you are worried that someone nearby might see the security key, you can click **Hide characters** ( changes to ) to display the characters you type as dots.



Windows 7 connects to the network.

A The network icon changes from do to indicate that you now have a wireless network connection.

### To Disconnect from a Wireless Network

- 🚺 Click the **Network** icon (💷).
- 2 Click your network.
- Click Disconnect.

Windows 7 disconnects from the wireless network.





# CONTENTS

- 124 Understanding the World Wide Web
- **125** Start Internet Explorer
- 126 Navigate Internet Explorer
- Select a Link
- I 28 Enter a Web Page Address
- I 30 Open a Web Page in a Tab
- **132** Navigate Web Pages
- **134** Change Your Home Page
- I36 Save Favourite Web Pages
- **I 38** Search for Sites

## SURFING THE WORLD WIDE WEB

After you have your Internet connection up and running, you can use Windows 7's Internet Explorer program to navigate – or *surf* – the sites of the World Wide Web. This chapter explains the Web and shows you how to navigate from site to site by selecting links and entering Web page addresses. You also learn how to open pages in tabs and return to pages you have visited previously. This chapter also shows you how to change your home page, save your favourite pages for easier access later and search for information on the Web.



## **UNDERSTANDING THE WORLD WIDE WEB**

The World Wide Web – the Web, for short – is a massive storehouse of information that resides on computers, called *Web* servers, located all over the world. Each Web server hosts one or more Web sites, and each of those sites contains dozens, hundreds, or even thousands of documents called *pages*.

You navigate from site to site and from page to page by clicking special words, phrases, or images called *links*, or by entering the address of the site or page you want to view. You do all of this using a special software program called a *Web browser*.

### Web Page

World Wide Web information is presented on Web pages, which you download to your computer using a Web browser program, such as Windows 7's Internet Explorer. Each Web page can combine text with images, sounds, music, and even video. The Web consists of billions of pages covering almost every imaginable topic.



### Web Site

A Web site is a collection of Web pages associated with a particular person, business, government, school, or organization. Web sites are stored on a Web server, a special computer that makes Web pages available for people to browse.

#### Web Address

Every Web page has its own Web address that uniquely identifies the page. This address is sometimes called a *URL* (pronounced *yoo-ar-ell* or *erl*), which is short for Uniform Resource Locator. If you know the address of a page, you can plug that address into your Web browser to view the page.



#### Links

A *link* (also called a hyperlink) is a kind of "cross-reference" to another Web page. Each link is a bit of text (usually shown underlined and in a different colour) or an image that, when you click it, loads the other page into your Web browser automatically. The other page is often from the same site, but it is common to come across links that take you to pages anywhere on the Web.

## **START INTERNET EXPLORER**

You can use Internet Explorer, Windows 7's built-in Web browser program, to surf the Web. To do this, you must first start Internet Explorer. When you have completed your work on the Web, you should shut down Internet Explorer to reduce clutter on your screen and recover some system resources.

Some versions of Windows 7, particularly those sold in the European Union, do not include the Internet Explorer Web browser. To obtain Internet Explorer, contact your computer manufacturer or Microsoft.

Connect to the Internet.

Click Internet Explorer.

**Note:** If you do not see the Internet Explorer icon in the taskbar, click **Start**, **All Programs**, and then **Internet Explorer**.

The Internet Explorer window appears.

**Note:** If you see the Welcome to Internet Explorer 8 dialog box, click **Next**, **Use express settings** (() changes to (), and then **Finish**.

3 When you are finished with the Web, click the **Close** button (☑) to shut down Internet Explorer.





## **NAVIGATE INTERNET EXPLORER**

If your computer is running Windows, then your default Web browser is most likely Internet Explorer. This is Microsoft's browser and it comes with most versions of Windows, which is part of the reason why it is the most popular browser in use today.

This section introduces you to the main features of the Internet Explorer window. You can more easily surf the Web if you know your way around the Internet Explorer Web browser.

### 🔼 Web Page Title

This part of the Internet Explorer title bar displays the title of the displayed Web page.

### B Address Bar

This text box displays the address of the displayed Web page. You can also use the address bar to type the address of a Web page that you want to visit.

### C Links

Links appear either as text or as images. On most pages (although not the page shown here), text links appear underlined and in a different colour (usually blue) from the regular page text.

### Current Link

This is the link that you are currently pointing at with your mouse. The mouse pointer changes from ▷ to ♡. On some pages, the link text also becomes underlined (as shown here) and changes colour.



### Status Bar

This area displays the current status of Internet Explorer. For example, it displays "Opening page" when you are downloading a Web page and "Done" when the page is fully loaded. When you point at a link, the status bar displays the address of the page associated with the link.

## **SELECT A LINK**

Almost all Web pages include links to other pages that contain information related to something in the current page and you can use these links to navigate to other Web pages. When you select a link, your Web browser loads the other page.

Knowing which words, phrases or images are links is not always obvious. The only way to tell for sure in many cases is to position the  $\$  over the text or image; if the  $\$  changes to a  $\$ , you know you are dealing with a link.

Position the & over the link (& changes to ♥).



Click the text or image.

The status bar shows the current download status.

**Note:** The address shown in the status bar when you point at a link may be different from the one shown when the page is downloading. This happens when the Web site "redirects" the link, which happens frequently.

The linked Web page appears.

- A The Web page title and address change after the linked page is loaded.
- B The status bar shows Done when the page is completely loaded.



## **ENTER A WEB PAGE ADDRESS**

If you know the address of a specific Web page, you can type that address into the Web browser and the program will display the page.

Internet Explorer's Address bar also doubles as a list of the Web page addresses you have entered most recently. By pulling down that list you can see these recent addresses and select one to return to that site.

### Type a Web Page Address

Click in the address bar.

Type the address of the Web page.

**Note:** Most Web addresses begin with http://. You can leave off these characters when you type your address; Internet Explorer adds them automatically.

**Note:** If the address uses the form www. something.com, type just the "something" part and press **Ctrl** + **Enter**. Internet Explorer automatically adds http://www. at the beginning and .com at the end.

3 Click the **Go** button (→) or press Enter.

The Web page appears.





### Redisplay a Web Page



Click 🔄 in the address bar.

A list of the addresses you have typed appears.

2 Click the address you want to display.

The Web page appears.

**Note:** If you type the first few letters of the address (such as **goog**), the address bar displays a list of addresses that match what you have typed. If you see the address you want, click it to load the page.



If Internet Explorer says "The page cannot be displayed", it means that Internet Explorer is unable to contact a Web server at the address you typed. This is often a temporary glitch, so click Refresh ( ) to try loading the page again. If the trouble persists, double-check the address to ensure that you typed it correctly. If you did, the site may be unavailable for some reason. Try again in a few hours.

## **OPEN A WEB PAGE IN A TAB**

You can make it easier to work with multiple Web pages simultaneously by opening each page in its own tab.

When you use a Web browser normally, each page appears in the main part of the browser window, which is usually called the content area. A tab is like a second content area and it appears "behind" the first one, with only a small tab (hence the name) visible. Click the tab and you see the second content area and its loaded Web page. You can open as many pages as you want in their own tabs. This is convenient because all the pages appear within a single Internet Explorer window.

- Right-click the link you want to open.
  - Click **Open in New Tab**.

A new tab appears with the page title.

Click the tab to display the page.

You can also open a page in a tab by holding Cin while clicking the link. If you press Cin + Shift while clicking a link, the tab displays automatically. If you type an address, press Alt + Enter to open the page in new tab.





### Navigate Tabs

Click the **Tab Left** button (<sup>∞</sup>) or the **Tab Right** button (<sup>≫</sup>) to display the tab you want.

**Note:** You see the Tab Left and Tab Right buttons only if Internet Explorer does not have enough room to display all the tabs.



Click the tab.

The Web page loaded in the tab appears.

### **Display Quick Tabs**

Click the **Quick Tabs** button (🕮).

Internet Explorer displays thumbnail images of the Web pages open in each tab.





You can also press Ctrl + C to display the Quick Tabs. Press Ctrl + Tab or Ctrl + Shift + Tab to cycle through the tabs. Press Ctrl + W to close the current tab and press Ctrl + Alt + F4 to close every tab but the current one.

### **NAVIGATE WEB PAGES**

After you have visited several pages, you can return to a page you visited earlier. Instead of making you retype the address or look for the link, Internet Explorer gives you some easier methods.

When you navigate Web pages, you can go back to a page you have visited in the current browser session. After you have done that, you can reverse course and go forward through the pages again.

belonging on Testar - Wridden Startet Explore

Franks in History at 1

### Go Back One Page

Click the **Back** button ( $\mathbf{E}$ ).

The previous page you visited appears.

### **Go Back Several Pages**

Click the **Recent Pages** .

A list of the sites you have visited appears.

- ▲ The current site appears with a check mark (☑) beside it.
- B Items listed below the current site are ones you visited prior to the current site.
- When you position the mouse
   ◊ over a previous site, Internet
   Explorer displays the Go
   Back arrow (
- 2 Click the page you want to display.

 Image: Instance
 Image: Ima

• 3 5 a b



The page appears.
#### Go Forward One Page



Click the **Forward** button ( $\blacksquare$ ).

The next page you visited appears.

**Note:** If you are at the last page viewed up to that point, the Forward button () is not active.

#### **Go Forward Several Pages**

#### Click the **Recent Pages** .

A list of the sites you have visited appears.

- A ltems listed above the current site are ones you visited after the current site.

Click the page you want to display.

The page appears.

#### **Keep Several Pages on Screen**

Press Ctrl + N.

A new Internet Explorer window appears.

2 Use the techniques described in this section to navigate to the page you want.







# CHANGE YOUR HOME PAGE

Your home page is the Web page that appears when you first start Internet Explorer. The default home page is usually the MSN.com site, but you can change that to any other page you want. For example, many people prefer to open a search engine page at start up.

In the Windows 7 version of Internet Explorer, you can have a single home page or you can have multiple home pages that load in separate tabs each time you start the program.

POIDS - ANGULTANE DATE

....

· ·····

### Change a Single Home Page

- Display the Web page that you want to use as your home page.
- Click the **Home** button **-**.
- Click Add or Change Home Page.



frequency Illusion

n. The bendency to realize instances of a particular phenomenon ence are starts to

look for it, and to therefore believe erroneously that the phenomenor occurs

The Add or Change Home Page dialog box appears.

Click Use this webpage as your only home page ( $\bigcirc$  changes to  $\bigcirc$ ).



Internet Explorer changes your home page.

You can click the **Home** button (🛅) to display the home page at any time.



Recent Pasts

Whiteentha Istic dar an Benefit

chanton tec pare treatactor

Alphe Archives

STREWERZA

becausey Balan what new you the

### Add a Page to Your Home Page Tabs

- Display the Web page that you want to add to your home page tabs.
  - Click the **Home** button 🗔.
- Click Add or Change Home Page.

The Add or Change Home Page dialog box appears.

- Click Add this webpage to your home page tabs (
   changes to 
   ).
- 🕝 Click **Yes**.

Internet Explorer adds the page to your home page tabs.

You can click the Home button () to display home page tabs at any time.

**Note:** To return to using your original home page, click **Tools**, **Internet Options**. Click the **General** tab, click **Use default**, and then click **OK**.







To get Internet Explorer to load without displaying a home page, click Tools, Internet Options, Use blank, OK.

### **SAVE FAVOURITE WEB PAGES**

If you have Web pages that you visit frequently, you can save yourself time by saving those pages as favourites within Internet Explorer. This enables you to display the pages with just a couple of mouse clicks.

The Favorites feature is a list of Web pages that you have saved. Instead of typing an address or searching for one of these pages, you can display the Web page by selecting its address from the Favorites list.

- Display the Web page you want to save as a favourite.
  - Click the Favorites Center button ().
  - Click Add to Favorites (🐼).

The Add a Favorite dialog box appears.

**Note:** You can also display the Add a Favorite dialog box by pressing Ctrl + D.

Edit the page name, as necessary.

Click **Add**.

(in Novi Spy - Windows Internet Department	AND A DESCRIPTION OF A
CO. C. MINING	• A 14 ×
whose 2 .	man the states of
in est privoite.	-3 9+0
Parather Paulo Matery	The Mart Lawy
Taxandar Ba	SOV
Mini Interim	Jey Mex Works
Particular United States	
at Paul Melahian Tan/Tonic	
B shaphcin Brow	
E Palarre in Pentineil Andersk	need of a perticular phenomenon once one clarks to seve envolvesculy that the phenomenon occurs
State State State	
a social - widowinking Debe	
and a second second	
a second in group of a second second	B+0.8+
area a	8-08
Paul MeFedrios	SOV The Word Levers
worg	Sev berte
a second	1 3
O terrare thaten	
bequirey moster	Add a Parantes March 19
tool for it, and to therefore to	All's Parate All's relater as haven To aven per houter of the
frequently.	termine (
The submission of the	Cases allocation and factors
secondly send me a lark bit a lar	
summing. Sumich and the record	Care
the builder spirit. To the month	

### Display a Favourite Web Page

Clicl

Click the **Favorites Center** button ( $\square$ ).

#### 2 Click Favorites.

The Favorites list appears.

3 Click the Web page you want to display.

The Web page appears.

If you use your Favorites list a lot, you can make it easier to display the pages by keeping the Favorites Center visible.

Click the Pin the Favorites Center button (Im). Internet Explorer pins the Favorites Center to the left side of the window.

#### Delete a Favourite Web Page

- Click the Favorites Center button ().
- Olick Favorites.
- 8 Right-click the favourite you want to delete.
- 4 Click Delete.

Internet Explorer asks if you are sure you want to delete the favourite.

6 Click Yes.





**CHAPTER 8** SURFING THE WORLD WIDE WEB

### **SEARCH FOR SITES**

If you need information on a specific topic, Internet Explorer has a built-in Search feature that enables you to guickly search the Web for sites that have the information you require. You type a word or phrase that represents what you are looking for and Internet Explorer sends the search text to another site that performs the search for you.

The Web has a number of sites called search engines that enable you to find what you are looking for. By default, Internet Explorer uses Microsoft's Bing search engine, but you can use other sites.

- Click in the search box.
- Type a word, phrase, or question that represents the information you want to find.
- Click the **Search** button (P) or Dress Enter

A list of pages that match your search text appears.

Click a Web page.



Mest foroning in theirs

Grant Tanata. The Environmentalists in Police on Task

 - economic and given experiances affeiring as experiences information an Soliter - Distance was alread given hang - Restation over 11 team age finities using carrier receipting for an event banglary. Therein have in the age Telliter 101 Tape and Teleter for a private heart a lot alout Telliter the addeded microliteges/massial-added total general over tares than Teleters: tot, you're protectly etter surveying star tare and the second state of th aren corv. Twitter Ros. Tricks. and Tavata: Paul HicFadries.  $\label{eq:product} \begin{array}{l} \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} = \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} \left[ \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} \right] \left[ \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} \right] \left[ \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} \right] \left[ \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} \right] \left[ \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} \right] \left[ \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} \right] \left[ \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} \right] \left[ \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} \right] \left[ \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} \right] \left[ \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} \right] \left[ \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} \right] \left[ \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} \right] \left[ \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} \right] \left[ \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} \right] \left[ \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} \right] \left[ \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} \right] \left[ \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} \right] \left[ \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} \right] \left[ \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} \right] \left[ \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} \right] \left[ \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} \right] \left[ \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} \right] \left[ \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} \right] \left[ \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} \right] \left[ \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} \right] \left[ \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} \right] \left[ \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} \right] \left[ \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} \right] \left[ \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} \right] \left[ \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} \right] \left[ \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} \right] \left[ \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} \right] \left[ \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} \right] \left[ \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} \right] \left[ \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} \right] \left[ \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} \right] \left[ \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} \right] \left[ \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} \right] \left[ \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} \right] \left[ \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} \right] \left[ \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} \right] \left[ \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} \right] \left[ \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} \right] \left[ \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} \right] \left[ \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} \right] \left[ \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} \right] \left[ \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} \right] \left[ \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} \right] \left[ \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} \right] \\[ \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} \right] \left[ \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} \right] \\[ \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} \right] \left[ \frac{\partial M}{\partial t} \right]$ 

#### The page appears.

#### **Use Another Search Engine**

- 👖 Click the search box 🗔.
- 2) Click Find More Providers.
- 3 Under the search engine you want to use, click **Add to** Internet Explorer.

### Olick Add.

To use the search engine, click the search box 🔄 and then click the search engine name.



# CONTENTS

- 142 Install Windows Live Essentials Programs
- 144 Configure an E-mail Account
- **146** Send an E-mail Message
- Add Someone to Your Contacts
- **148** Select a Contact Address
- **I 50** Add a File Attachment
- I52 Add a Signature
- 154 Receive and Read E-mail Messages
- **156** Reply to a Message
- **157** Forward a Message
- **158** Open and Save an Attachment
- 60 Switch to Calendar
- 161 Understanding the Calendar
- **162** Navigate the Calendar
- 63 Create an Event
- Add a Calendar





# WORKING WITH E-MAIL, CONTACTS, AND EVENTS

You may find that your life is busier than ever and that the number of people you need to stay in touch with, appointments you have to keep, and tasks you have to perform seem to increase daily. Fortunately, you can install the Windows Live Mail program to send e-mail to and read e-mail from friends, family, colleagues, and even total strangers almost anywhere in the world. You can also use Windows Live Mail's Contacts feature to manage your contacts by storing information such as phone numbers, e-mail addresses, street addresses, and much more. Finally, you can use the Calendar feature to enter and track events.



### **INSTALL WINDOWS LIVE ESSENTIALS PROGRAMS**

Windows Live Mail is not installed on Windows 7 by default. To use the program, you must access the Windows Live Essentials Web site and download and install the program from there.

You can also use the Windows Live Essentials site to install other useful programs that do not come with Windows 7, such as Windows Live Photo Gallery and Windows Live Movie Maker.

П

#### Click Start.

- Click the **Getting Started** arrow (**D**).
- Click Get Windows Live Essentials.



The Windows Live Essentials Web page appears.

Click **Download**.



All of the programs available on the Windows Live Essentials Web site, including Windows Live Mail, are free. The Windows Live Essentials programs are supplements to Windows 7 but are not included in it as many people prefer to use other programs, such as Microsoft Outlook for e-mail and contacts.



The File Download - Security Warning dialog box appears.



#### Click Run.

Note: If you see the User Account Control dialog box at this point, provide an administrator password and click Yes.



Click **Close** (**S**) to close the Windows Live Essentials Web page.

The Choose the Programs You Want to Install dialog box appears.

Click the check box beside each 77 program you want to install ( $\square$  changes to  $\blacksquare$ ).



Click Install.

Windows 7 installs your selected Windows Live Essentials programs.





The Windows Live Essentials installation program adds a new submenu named Windows Live to your Start menu. To launch any Windows Live Essential program, click Start, All Programs, and then click Windows Live. In the submenu that appears, click the name of the program you want to run.

# **CONFIGURE AN E-MAIL ACCOUNT**

Before you can send an e-mail message, you must add your e-mail account to the Windows Live Mail application. This also enables you to use Windows Live Mail to retrieve messages that others have sent to your account.

Your e-mail account is usually a POP (Post Office Protocol) account supplied by your Internet service provider (ISP). The POP account details include your e-mail account login user name and password, and possibly the names of the ISP's incoming and outgoing mail servers.

Start Windows Live Mail.

The Add an E-mail Account Wizard appears.

- 2 Type your e-mail address.
- Type your password.
- 4 Type your name.
- 3 Click Next.

**Note:** If Windows Live Mail tells you it has successfully set up your account, click **Finish** and skip the rest of these steps.

Windows Live Mail prompts you for your e-mail account's server information.

- Type the name of your ISP's incoming mail server.
- 7 Type the e-mail account login user name.
- 8 Type the name of your ISP's outgoing mail server.
- If your ISP uses a different port for outgoing mail, type the port number.

ldd yn E-meil A	MUCON MILLION M
Pages are up	venel scourt interester below:
Sneletter:	
Parevort	
	Paranter parivora
How should you	rame appearing out for the populat
Diplay Terre	hai kohdea 🔫 4
	For example, John Smith
Minute Io	Tgursonive settings for simal account.
	5



Click this check box if your ISP's outgoing mail server requires authentication (
 changes to 
 ...).

#### 🔟 Click Next.

The final wizard dialog box appears.

Click Finish at the bottom of dialog box.

Windows Live Mail configures your e-mail account.

- Windows Live Mail adds the account to the Folder pane on the left side of the program window.
- To make changes to the account, right-click the account name and then click **Properties**.
  - In the Properties dialog box that appears, use the tabs to make changes to your settings.





If you want to configure another e-mail account, click the Add e-mail account link in the Folder pane.

# **SEND AN E-MAIL MESSAGE**

If you know the e-mail address of a person or organisation, you can send an e-mail message to that address. In most cases, the message is delivered within a few minutes.

An e-mail address is a set of characters that uniquely identifies the location of an Internet mailbox. Each e-mail address takes the form *username@domain*, where *username* is the name of the person's account with the ISP or within his or her organisation; and *domain* is the Internet name of the company that provides the person's e-mail account. If you do not know any e-mail addresses or if, at first, you prefer to just practice sending messages, you can send messages to your own e-mail address.

- Start Windows Live Mail.
- Click **New**.
- Type the e-mail address of the recipient.
  - A To send the message to another person, click Show Cc & Bcc and type an e-mail address in the Cc field.
- 4 Type a title for the message.
  - Type the message.
    - B Use the buttons in the Formatting bar to format the message text.
- Click Send.

Windows Live Mail sends your message.

**Note:** Windows Live Mail stores a copy of your message in the Sent Items folder.

STOP Press AID, click Format, and then click Plain text ( appears beside the command) to send an email without formatting.





# ADD SOMEONE TO YOUR CONTACTS

You can use Windows Live Contacts to store the names and e-mail addresses of people with whom you frequently correspond. You do that by creating a new contact, which stores data about a person or company. For example, you can store a person's name, company name, phone numbers, e-mail address and instant messaging data, street address, notes, and much more.

When you choose a name from Windows Live Contacts while composing a message, Windows Live Mail automatically adds the contact's e-mail address. This is faster and more accurate than typing the address by hand.

In Windows Live Mail, click **Contacts** (III).

**Note:** You can also open Windows Live Contacts by pressing Ctrl + Shift + C.

The Windows Live Contacts window appears.



The Add a Contact dialog box appears.

- 3 Type the person's first name.
- 4 Type the person's last name.
- 5 Type the person's e-mail address.
  - A You can use the other tabs to store more information about the contact, including home and business addresses and phone numbers, spouse name, birthday, and more.
- Olick Add contact.

Windows Live Contacts adds the person to the Contacts list.



Paul 3	
Percenter e- mail	G
have of a below on a	
Company:	
6	Add contact Cencel
	Rei nave Rei - 3 Protecti i esti patienți îngeștritanea Compony

# **SELECT A CONTACT ADDRESS**

After you have some e-mail addresses and names in your Windows Live Contacts list, you can select the address you want directly from Windows Live Contacts, when composing a message, instead of typing the address. This is much faster and more accurate than typing the address by hand, particularly if you are sending the message to multiple people.

- In Windows Live Mail, click **New** to start a new message.
- Click **To**.



The Send an E-mail dialog box appears.

- Click the person to whom you want to send the message.
- 4 Click To.
  - A The person's name appears in the To box.

**Note:** You can also double-click a contact to add that person to the To field.

S Repeat Steps 3 and 4 to add other recipients to the To box.



- To send a copy of the message to a recipient, click the person's name.
- 7 Click Cc.
  - B The person's name appears in the message recipients box.
- 8 Repeat Steps 6 and 7 to add other recipients to the Cc box.
- 💿 Click **OK**.
  - Windows Live Mail adds the recipients to the To and Cc lines of the new message.



in a second	Stat Attack Obstantion in a the law	D.1 . #1
11.74	intinat C	
11.08	Meledator	
11 Per		
balger.		min forbility
plane.	Relations II	
	where we are a fear of a fear of the second se	4. 1. 6. 8

 $\overline{\checkmark}$ 

In Windows Live Contacts, click the name of the person to whom you want to send a message and then click the E-mail button in the toolbar. The contact's name is automatically added to the To field of a new message.  $\checkmark$ 

Bcc stands for blind courtesy copy. Addresses in the Bcc field are not displayed to the other message recipients. If you do not want Windows Live Mail to display the Bcc field in the message window, click Hide Cc & Bcc.

# **ADD A FILE ATTACHMENT**

You might find that you need to send someone something more complex than a simple text e-mail, such as budget numbers, a slide show, or some form of media that you want to share, such as an image or a song. Because these more complex types of data usually come in a separate file – such as a spreadsheet, a presentation file, a picture file, or a music file – it makes sense to send that file to your recipient. You do this by attaching the file to an e-mail message. The other person can open the document after he or she receives your message.

# Add an Attachment from a Dialog Box

- Click **New** to start a new message.
- 2 Click **Attach**.



The Open dialog box appears.

- 3 Click the file you want to attach.
- Click Open.





Windows Live Mail attaches the file to the message.

Repeat Steps 2 to 4 to attach additional files to the message.

#### Add an Attachment Directly

Open the folder that contains the file you want to send as an attachment.



2

#### Click E-mail.

Windows Live Mail creates a new message and attaches the file.





**STOP** There is no practical limit to the number of files you can attach to a message. However, you should be careful with the total size of the files you send. Many Internet service providers (ISPs) place a limit on the size of a message's attachments, which is usually between 2MB and 10MB. In general, use e-mail to send only a few small files at a time.

# ADD A SIGNATURE

In an e-mail message, a *signature* is a small amount of text that appears at the bottom of the message. Instead of typing this information manually, you can create the signature once and then have Windows Live Mail add the signature automatically to any message you send.

Signatures usually contain personal contact information, such as your phone numbers, business address, and e-mail and Web site addresses. Some people supplement their signatures with wise or witty quotations. Windows Live Mail supports multiple signatures, which is useful if you use Mail for different purposes such as business and personal e-mail. You can configure Windows Live Mail to automatically add one of your signatures to any message you send.

#### Click **Menus** (🗟).

Click **Options**.



The Options dialog box appears.

- 3) Click the **Signatures** tab.
- Click **New**.
  - Windows Live Mail creates a new signature.

synthe entrop			-	
E Might attractive t	to Pepier and Pariso	rte		
Jarden II. De	the Rest and	1		
A	an share	Lero		٣
		Lens		
Air Annas as				
\$ 9.24		Tagi au D	dad.	
		Atuano	et	
0.0+		- Orașe		
			_	

- 5 Type the signature text.
- Olick Rename.
- 7 Type a name for the signature and press Enter.
- Click **OK**.



### . . . .

### Insert a Signature Manually

- Click **New** to start a new message.
- 2 In the message text area, move the insertion point to the location where you want the signature to appear.
- 🛯 Click **Menus** (🗟).
- Olick Insert signature.

**Note:** If you have more than one signature, click the one you want to use from the menu that appears.



The signature appears in the message.



Windows Live Mail can add a signature automatically to the bottom of every new message. Follow Steps I to 3 to display the Signatures tab. Click Add signatures to all outgoing messages ( changes to ).



# **RECEIVE AND READ E-MAIL MESSAGES**

You must connect to your mail provider's incoming mail server to retrieve and read messages sent to you.

When another person sends you an e-mail message, that message ends up in your e-mail account's mailbox on the incoming mail server your ISP or e-mail provider maintains. However, that company does not automatically pass along that message to you. Instead, you must use Mail to connect to your mailbox on the incoming mail server and retrieve any messages waiting for you. By default, Windows Live Mail checks for new messages automatically when you start the program and then every 30 minutes while you are online.

### **Receive E-mail Messages**

- Click Inbox.
- Click **Sync**.



- A If you have new messages, they appear in your Inbox folder in bold type.
- B This symbol () means that the message has a file attached.
  - This symbol (I) means the message was sent as low priority.
- This symbol (!) means the message was sent as high priority.



### Read a Message



- Click the message.
- 2 Read the message text in the preview pane.

**Note:** If you want to open the message in its own window, double-click the message.

### Change how often Windows Live Mail Checks for Messages

- Click Menus (B) and then click
   Options.
- 2 In the Options dialog box, click the **General** tab.
- If you do not want Windows Live Mail to check for messages when the program starts, click Send and receive messages at startup (I changes to )).
- Type a new time interval, in minutes, that you want Windows Live Mail to use when automatically checking for new messages.







### **REPLY TO A MESSAGE**

When a message you receive requires some kind of response – whether it is answering a question, supplying information, or providing comments or criticisms – you can reply to it. Most replies go only to the person who sent the original message. However, it is also possible to send the reply to all the people who were included in the original message's To line and Cc lines.

- Click the message to which you want to reply.
  - Click the reply type you want to use:

**Reply** responds only to the first address on the From line.

**Reply All** responds to all the addresses in the From and Cc lines.

A message window appears. Windows Live Mail inserts:

- A t
- the recipient addresses.
- B the subject line, preceded by Re.
- G the original message information.
- Bedit the original message to include only the relevant text.
- Click the area above the original message text and type your reply.
  - Click Send.

Windows Live Mail sends your reply and stores a copy of it in the Sent Items folder.





# FORWARD A MESSAGE

If a message has information relevant to another person, you can forward a copy of that message to the other person. You can also include your own comments in the forward.

When it creates the forward message, Windows Live Mail automatically adds "Fw:" to the beginning of the subject line to indicate the message is a forward.

Click the message that you want to forward.

#### Click Forward.

In the message window Windows Live Mail automatically inserts:

- \Lambda the subject line, preceded by Fw.
- B the original message's information at the bottom of the message.
- 3 Type the e-mail address of the person to whom you are forwarding the message.
- Edit the original message to include only the text relevant to your forward.
- Click the area above the original message text and type your comments.
- Click Send.

Windows Live Mail sends your forward.

**Note:** Windows Live Mail stores a copy of your sent message in the Sent Items folder.





# **OPEN AND SAVE AN ATTACHMENT**

If you receive an e-mail message that has a file attached, you can open the attachment to view the contents of the file. You can also save the attachment as a file on your computer.

Be careful when dealing with attached files. Computer viruses are often transmitted by e-mail attachments. If you do not know the person who sent you the file, do not open it. If the message came from someone you know and you were expecting the file, then it should be safe to open the file; if you were not expecting the file, however, you should write back to have the person confirm that the file is legitimate.

#### **Open An Attachment**

Click the message that has the attachment, as indicated by the **Attachment** symbol (...).

A list of the message attachments appears.

2 Double-click the attachment you want to open.

Windows Live Mail asks you to confirm that you want to open the file.

3 Click Open.

The file opens in the appropriate program.





Windows 7 may display a dialog box saying that the file "does not have a program associated with it." If you are not sure what program you need, ask the person who sent you the file.

#### **CHAPTER 9** WORKING WITH E-MAIL, CONTACTS, AND EVENTS

#### Save An Attachment

П Click the message that has the attachment, as indicated by the Attachment symbol (I).

> A list of the message attachments appears.

- Right-click the attachment you 2 want to save.
- Click Save as. 3

The Save Attachment As dialog box appears.

- 4 Use the File Name text box to edit the file name, if desired.
- Select the folder into which you 5 want the file saved.
- 6 Click Save.





**STOP** If you cannot click the Save As command. Windows Live Mail has determined that the attached file may be unsafe, meaning that it may harbour a virus or other malicious code. If you are certain the file is safe, click Menus ( ), Safety

**Options, the Security tab, and** then Do not allow attachments to be saved or opened that could potentially be a virus ( changes to ). Be sure to reactivate this feature after you have opened or saved the attachment.

159

### **SWITCH TO CALENDAR**

With Calendar, the scheduling program that comes with Windows Live Mail, you can create and work with events, which are either scheduled appointments such as meetings, lunches, and visits to the dentist, or all-day activities, such as conferences or vacations. The Calendar feature also enables you to create recurring events that automatically repeat at the interval you specify. To get started, you must first switch to the Calendar feature.



**Note:** You can also open the Calendar by pressing **Ctrl** + **Shift** + **X**.



The Calendar window appears.

2 When you finish your scheduling chores, click the **Mail** button (2) or press **Ctrl** + **Shift** + **J** to return to the Mail feature.



# **UNDERSTANDING THE CALENDAR**

Windows Live Mail's Calendar makes scheduling easy. However, you can make it even easier by taking some time now to learn the layout of the Calendar window. The most important features are the Date Navigator, the current date display, the event list, and the Calendars list.

### Date Navigator

This area shows the current month, and you use the Date Navigator to select the date on which you want to schedule an event, all-day event, or task. See the "Navigate the Calendar" section, later in this chapter, to learn how to use the Date Navigator.

### Current Date

This area shows the date that is currently selected in the Date Navigator.

### Contended Con

This area shows the events that you have scheduled. In Day view, as shown here, the event list is divided into halfhour increments.



### Calendars

This area shows a list of your calendars. You get a single calendar to start with, but you can add more calendars as described in the "Add a Calendar" section, later in this chapter.

# NAVIGATE THE CALENDAR

You use the Date Navigator to display dates in the Calendar and you can navigate dates by month or by year.

You can also change the calendar view to suit your needs. For example, you can show a single day's appointments if you want to concentrate on that day's activities. Similarly, you can view a week's appointments if you want to get a larger sense of what your schedule looks like.



- Click the **Next Month** button П ()) until the month of your event appears.
- 2 If you go too far, click the **Previous Month** button ( to move back.
- Click a date.
  - The date appears in the events list.
- 4 If you want to return to today's date, click Go to today.
- In the Date Navigator, click the month.

Calendar switches to Year view.

- 6 Click the Next Year () and **Previous Year** (
  ) buttons until the year you want appears.
  - To see the day, week or month that includes the date selected click Day, Week or Month.
  - Click the month when your event occurs.

Calendar switches to Month view.



**62** 

# **CREATE AN EVENT**

You can help organise your life by using Windows Live Mail's Calendar to record your events.

If the event has a set time and duration – for example, a meeting or a lunch date – you add the event directly to the calendar as a regular appointment. If the event has no set time – for example, a birthday, anniversary, or multiple-day event such as a sales meeting or vacation – you can create an all-day event. If you have an activity or appointment that recurs at regular intervals, you can create an event and configure it to automatically repeat in Calendar.

- Navigate to the date when the event occurs.
- Click the time when the event starts.

**Note:** If the event is more than half an hour, you can also click and drag the mouse  $\triangleright$  over the full event period.

3 Click New.

Note: You can also press Ctrl + Shift + E.

Calendar displays the New Event dialog box.

- 4 Type a name for the event.
- Inter the event location.
- If the event lasts all day, click All day (□ changes to ☑).
- Enter the correct Start time.
- 8 Enter the correct End time.
- Type notes related to the event.
- Click Save & close.

Calendar adds the event to the list.



		1 (1) NO 10 (1)		and they	Caler	relar T	2 No secureore 7
and Description	 	1000 004	-		the law		
				Т			

# ADD A CALENDAR

If you have different schedules that you want to keep separate, you can add another calendar. For example, you might want to have one calendar for work events and a second calendar for personal events. You could also set up different calendars for individual people, different projects, separate clients, and so on.

You can assign different colours to each calendar, which helps you to see at a glance which event belongs to which calendar.



#### Click Add calendar.

**Note:** Another way to start a new calendar is to press **Ctrl** + **Shift** + **D**.



The Add a Calendar dialog box appears.

- 2 Type a name for the calendar.
- 3 Click the colour you want to use for the calendar.



64

- 4 Type an optional description for the calendar.
- If you want Windows Live Mail to use this calendar as the default for new events, click Make this my primary calendar ( changes to ).

#### 6 Click Save.

A The new calendar appears in the Calendars list.



Concern Winters and Ma	9		
Res - Indonesial	Lots too Day Had Hath	hoe	2- 3- 8- 5pt
A Max 2000		Names of the APPR	
	Day		
	1.444		
8 8 8 8 9 H 13 18	32.454		
	TIM		
4 1. 2 1. 1 1. 1 1.			
	11194		
Connectors			
W Damas - A	1956		
A			
	1967		
Alt chinter			
	1954		
	110		
27 Hel			
E Calendia	1254		
L) fames			
test (1)	1954		
A Deserver			
	7.9%		
			Tating other 😝

Click the calendar you want to use and then click New event to create an event in a specific calendar. In the New Event window, click the Calendar and then click the calendar you want to use. For an existing event, double-click the event, click the Calendar , and then click the calendar.

The default name of "Calendar" is not very descriptive, so it is a good idea to rename it to something more useful. In the Calendars list, click Calendar and then click Properties. Use the Calendar name text box to type a new name, and then click Save.

# CONTENTS

- 168 Understanding Windows 7 Security
- I70 Check Action Center for Security Problems
- I72 Protect an Account with a Password
- **174** Lock Your Computer
- 176 Set the Junk E-mail Protection Level





# IMPLEMENTING SECURITY IN WINDOWS 7

Threats to your computer-related security and privacy often come from the Internet in the form of system intruders, such as junk e-mail, viruses, and identity thieves. However, many security and privacy violations occur right at your computer by someone simply using your computer while you are not around. To protect yourself and your family, you need to understand these threats and know what you can do to thwart them.

This chapter gives you some background information about security in Windows 7 and shows you various methods for securing your computer:



### **UNDERSTANDING WINDOWS 7 SECURITY**

Before getting to the details of securing your PC, it helps to take a step back and look at the security and privacy tools that Windows 7 makes available.

These tools include your user account password, Windows 7's User Account Control and Parental Controls features, the Windows Firewall and Windows Defender programs, and the anti-phishing and anti-spam features of Internet Explorer and Windows Live Mail.

#### **User Account Password**

Windows 7 security begins with assigning a password to each user account on the computer. This prevents unauthorised users from accessing the system and it enables you to lock your computer. See "Protect an Account with a Password" and "Lock Your Computer," later in this chapter.

#### **User Account Control**

User Account Control asks you to confirm certain actions that could conceivably harm your system. If you have an administrator account, you click **Yes** to continue; if you have a standard account, you must enter an administrator's user name and password to continue.

Do you want to a changes to this o	lose the following program to make computer?
Program na Venticed pub	me Windows Command Froessor John Microsoft Windows
🛞 Show datala	VIIC No
Help me decide	Charge when these notifications appear

#### **Parental Controls**

If one or more children use your computer, you can use Windows 7's Parental Controls to protect those children from inadvertently running certain programs, playing unsuitable games, and using the computer at inappropriate times.

Greg Standard Passwort	user I protected
Time Limits:	On
Game Ratings:	Up to TEEN
Program Limite	On
#### Windows Firewall

Because when your computer is connected to the Internet, it is possible for another person on the Internet to access your computer and infect it with a virus or cause other damage, Windows 7 comes with the Windows Firewall feature turned on. This prevents intruders from accessing your computer while you are online.

#### Windows Defender

Spyware is a software program that installs on your computer without your knowledge or consent. This program surreptitiously gathers data from your computer, steals your passwords, displays advertisements, and hijacks your Web browser. To prevent spyware from installing on your computer, Windows 7 includes the Windows Defender program.

#### Phishina

Phishing refers to e-mail messages or Web sites that appear to come from legitimate businesses and organisations but actually come from a scam artist. The purpose of the message or site is to fool you into divulging personal or private data, such as passwords and credit card numbers. Internet Explorer and

Windows Live Mail come with anti-phishing features to help prevent this.

#### Junk E-mail

lunk e-mail – or spam – refers to unsolicited, commercial e-mail messages that advertise anything from baldness cures to cheap printer cartridges. Many spams advertise deals that are simply fraudulent and others feature such unsavoury practices as linking to adult-oriented sites or sites that install spyware. Windows Live Mail comes with a junk e-mail filter; see "Set the Junk E-mail Protection Level," later in this chapter.





Revol tase to ... Thank me of seasons to

Thesele you for an

an will three sends it Lawy 2-mond Freq Law 10

Halcolm Puls. .... Find me have na Retor

- Chab



Windows Defender

### CHECK ACTION CENTER FOR SECURITY PROBLEMS

In Windows 7, the new Action Center displays messages about the current state of your PC. In particular, Action Center warns you if your computer has any current security problems.

For example, the Action Center tells you if your PC does not have virus protection installed, or if the Windows Defender spyware database is out of date or turned off. Action Center also warns you if User Account Control is turned off or if the Windows Firewall is deactivated.

#### Click **Start**.

Click Control Panel.

The Control Panel window appears.

Click Review your computer's status.

The Action Center window appears.

- A Review the messages in the Security section.
- Click a message button to resolve the security issue, such as clicking Update now if Windows Defender is out of date.
- Click Security.





- 6
  - Scroll down the Action Center window.

Action Center displays a summary of all your system's security settings.

1000			_
Largo Pare Fore	Network/Seculi	0.	
Damps thilton Darbon address	Wednes Friendlin salvely probability y	ter steripulle.	
Charge for Ascoult Conese	Rindon Uplate	Ret at ap.	
HT-D	thinking lipids a set of optio the same	A+	
File activities and	Name and Address	Not Served	
Les promots and the	Whites dd tet find attivits aftern out	No a sergudia:	
	Space and uncertain advant potention	Ound time	
	10 Vestera Defende is autori data.		
	Ord a different and approximation profession		
	Internet accents writings	05	
	without southy setting are at to their a	a promote de la construction de	
	the remark forest	-	
	UKC with natify others programming to make a	inanger is fire arrigador.	
	B Dange unlings		
	Vatural Journ Testavian	CHE .	
	Metwork focus: Robustion Agent percenter	general factors	
	What is Repurch Acress Reported		
368.002			
being authores	His Inflore the work officers (ph)	a muse marked	
Mindow Apalete	Philipping and		
Window Program	Planterance		

#### See Action Center Messages

Click the **Action Center** icon (18) in the taskbar's notification area.

The current Action Center messages appear in the popup.

2 To launch Action Center, click Open Action Center.



### **PROTECT AN ACCOUNT WITH A PASSWORD**

You can protect your Windows 7 user account with a password. This is a good idea because otherwise another user can log on to your account just by clicking your user name in the Welcome screen. Once you have a password associated with your user account, another user can still click your user name in the Welcome screen, but that person must then enter your password before Windows 7 goes any further.

For maximum security, make sure you create a strong password that cannot be easily guessed or hacked. See the tip on the next page.

#### Click **Start**.

Click Control Panel.

The Control Panel window appears.

Click Add or remove user accounts.

The Manage Accounts window appears.

Click the user account you want to work with.





The Change an Account window appears.



The Create Password window appears.

- Type the password.
- 7 Type the password again.
- Type a word or phrase to use as a password hint in case you forget the password.
  - Click **Create password**.

Windows 7 adds the password to the user account.



Criste a peasword for fairer a secourt
Seen Second and
You are prefered a pass-prefer farm.
If yords this, taxes utilizes all the ecopyted this, percend calificates and standpasses to fail this also an advanta securities.
This approximate and a sector countries into a sector of the sector of t
These the country of the tag parameters

Do not use obvious items such as your name or a word such as "password."Your password should be at least eight characters long and it should include at least one character from each of the following three sets: lowercase letters, uppercase letters, and numbers. To change the password, follow Steps I to 4 to open the Change an Account window. Click the Change the password link to open the Change Password dialog box. Type your existing password, follow Steps 6 to 8 to specify the new password and hint, and then click Change password.

## LOCK YOUR COMPUTER

Protecting your account with a password prevents someone from logging on to your account, but what happens when you leave your desk? If you remain logged on to the system, any person who sits down at your computer can use it to view and change files. To prevent this, lock your computer, which hides your desktop and displays the Windows 7 Welcome screen.

Once your computer is locked, anyone who tries to use your computer will first have to enter your password in the Welcome screen.

#### Click Start.

Click the power button arrow (D).

#### Click Lock.

Windows 7 locks your computer.

The word "Locked" appears under your user name.





#### **Unlock Your Computer**

- Click inside the password text box.
- 2 Type your password.
  - Click **Go** (🔜).

Windows 7 unlocks your computer and restores your desktop.

#### Make it Easier to Lock your Computer

Right-click Start and then click Properties.

> The Taskbar and Start Menu Properties dialog box appears.

- 2 Click the **Power button action** 

   ¬ and then click Lock.
- 🛐 Click **OK**.

Windows 7 customises the Start menu's Power button to lock your computer instead of shutting it down.



Takbar and Start Manu Properties
Taskbar Start Hanu Toobara
To customize here lefts, here, and menus lask and behave in the stattmens, did customos.
Poner button actions Lask - 2
Privacy
If stare and displayrecendy opened programs in the start menu
I since and dealer records oppreditions in the Start mone and the toploar
Han skildense for mar for the test mena initial
3 -> OK Cancel Acely



You can also press 2+ to access the lock command directly.

### SET THE JUNK E-MAIL PROTECTION LEVEL

You can make junk messages easier to manage by setting the Windows Live Mail junk e-mail protection level. You can set a higher level if you receive many junk messages each day and a lower level if you receive very few junk messages.

The higher the protection level, the more aggressively Windows Live Mail checks for junk e-mail. All suspected junk messages get moved to the Junk E-mail folder. If a legitimate message is moved to Junk E-mail by accident, you can mark the message as not junk.

 In Windows Live Mail, click Menus (
).

76

Click Safety options.



The Safety Options dialog box appears.

Click the **Options** tab.



- Click the protection level you want (
   changes to 
   ):
  - Click No Automatic Filtering if you receive very few junk messages each day.
  - B Click Low if you receive a moderate number of junk messages.
  - Click **High** if you receive many junk messages each day.

 Select Control
 Market Selection

 Control
 Bath Selection
 File Selection

 ProCont Control and makes
 Hermitianian (Execution)
 Hermitianian (Execution)

 Control
 Selection
 Selection
 Selection

 Control
 Selection
 Selection
 Selection

 Control
 Selection
 Selection
 Selection

 Control
 Selection
 Selection
 Selection

 Control
 Selection
 Selection
 Selection
 Selection

 Control
 Selection
 Selectio

👩 Click **OK**.

Windows Live Mail puts the new protection level into effect.

#### Mark a Message as Not Junk

- Click the Junk E-mail folder.
- 2 Click the message.
- Click Not junk.

Windows Mail returns the message to the Inbox folder.



77

## CONTENTS

- 180 Open the Personalization Window
- **181** Change the Desktop Background
- **182** Set the Screen Saver
- 184 Change the Windows 7 Colour Scheme
- 186 Customise the Start Menu
- **188** Customise the Taskbar

## **CUSTOMISING WINDOWS 7**

Windows 7 comes with a number of features that enable you to personalise your computer. For example, you can change the appearance of Windows 7 to suit your taste, including selecting a new desktop background, choosing a screen saver, and changing the Windows 7 colour scheme.

You can also change the way Windows 7 works to make it easier to use and more efficient. For example, you can change the icons that appear on the Start menu and you can configure the taskbar.



### **OPEN THE PERSONALIZATION WINDOW**

To make changes to many of Windows 7's display options, you need to know how to open the Personalization window.

The Personalization window is one of the most powerful and useful features of Windows 7. With the Personalization window you can change the desktop background, select a new colour scheme, set up a screen saver, and more. With the Personalization window you can also apply themes to quickly and easily change the overall look of Windows 7.

#### Click **Start**.

#### Click Control Panel.

The Control Panel window appears.

#### 3 Click Appearance and Personalization.

The Appearance and Personalization window appears.

#### 4 Click Personalization.

The Personalization window appears.

**Note:** A quicker way to open the Personalization window is to right-click an empty section of the desktop and then click Personalize.

5 Scroll down to view the available themes and click one to change the desktop background, screen saver, and colour scheme all at once.

**Note:** Each theme also includes its own set of desktop icons, sound effects, and mouse pointers.

6 Click the **Close** button (**⊠**) when you are finished working with this window.





## **CHANGE THE DESKTOP BACKGROUND**

For a different look, you can change the desktop background to display a different image or a specific colour.

Windows 7 comes with more than three dozen desktop background images, which include scenes of nature, architectural photos, fantasy characters, and more. If none of the built-in desktop backgrounds appeal to you, you can use one of your own photos as the background.

Open the Personalization window.

#### Click **Desktop Background**.

The Desktop Background window appears.

3 Click the **Picture location** and then click the background gallery you want to use.

**Note:** If you would prefer to use your own image, click Pictures Library. You can also click Browse and select a file.

Windows 7 displays the backgrounds in the selected gallery.

Click Clear all.

2

- 5 Click the image or colour you want to use.
- 6 Click the Picture position and then click the positioning you want.
- 7 Click Save changes.
- 8 Click the **Close** button (🛛).

The picture or colour you selected appears on the desktop.





### **SET THE SCREEN SAVER**

If you leave your monitor on for long stretches while your computer is idle, the image can end up temporarily "burned" into the monitor's screen. A screen saver prevents this by displaying a moving image.

However, the temporarily burned image will not damage your monitor over the long term, so many people set up a screen saver to have something interesting to look at while their computer is idle.

#### Open the Personalization window.

Click Screen Saver.



The Screen Saver Settings dialog box appears.

3 Click the Screen saver and then click the screen saver you want to use.



A preview of the screen saver appears.

**Note:** Not all screen savers can display the small preview. To see an actual preview, click Preview. When you are done, move the mouse  $\Im$  or press a key to stop the preview.



4 Click the Wait ∃ to specify the number of minutes of computer idle time after which the screen saver appears.

- Click the On resume, display logon screen check box
   ( changes to ) to ensure that anyone who interrupts the screen saver can see your work only if he or she knows your password.
- Click OK.

The screen saver appears after your computer is idle for the number of minutes you specified in Step **4**.

**Note:** To interrupt the screen saver, move the mouse  $\Im$  or press **Shift** on the keyboard.



### **CHANGE THE WINDOWS 7 COLOUR SCHEME**

You can personalise your copy of Windows 7 by choosing a different colour scheme, which Windows 7 applies to the window borders, taskbar, and Start menu.

You can also customise the Windows 7 look by toggling the transparent glass effect on and off and by setting the colour intensity. Windows 7 enables you to create your own colours, each of which is a combination of three properties: hue (the colour), saturation (the purity of the colour), and brightness (how much grey is mixed in with the colour).

Open the Personalization window.

Click **Window Color**.



The Window Color and Appearance window appears.

**Note:** If you see the Window Color and Appearance dialog box, instead, see the next page.



Click the colour you want to use.

Windows 7 changes the colour of the window border.



- 4 If you do not want to see the glass effect, click Enable transparency ( $\blacksquare$  changes to  $\blacksquare$ ).
- Click and drag the Color intensity slider to set the colour intensity.
- 6 Click Show color mixer (the prompt changes to Hide color mixer).
- 7 Click and drag the **Hue**, Saturation, and Brightness sliders to set your custom colour.
- 8

#### Click Save changes.

Windows 7 applies the new colour scheme.

#### Use the Window Color and Appearance Dialog Box

On systems with lower-end graphics cards or little graphics memory, you change the colour scheme in this dialog.

- Click the Item and click the object you want to customise.
- 2 Click 🔄 in each Color list and select colours for the object.
- Use the Font, Size, Color, Bold, and Italics controls to format any text.
- Repeat Steps I to 3 to customise 4 other items.







### **CUSTOMISE THE START MENU**

You can personalise how the Start menu looks and operates to suit your style and the way you work. For example, you can turn off the lists of recently used documents and programs for privacy.

You can also control the items that appear on the right side of the menu. For example, you can add and remove items, and you can change whether some items appear as links or menus.

You can also customise the number of recent programs that appear on the Start menu and the number of items that appear in jump lists.

Right-click Start.

Click **Properties**.

The Taskbar and Start Menu Properties dialog box appears with the Start Menu tab displayed.

- If you do not want Windows 7 to list your recently used programs, click here ( changes to ).
- If you do not want Windows 7 to list your recently used documents, click here (♥ changes to ■).
- 5 Click Customize.





The Customize Start Menu dialog box appears.

- Use the Start menu items list to control the icons that appear on the Start menu.
- Some items have several option buttons that control how they appear on the Start menu; click the option you want (
   changes to
   ).
- G Some items have check boxes that determine whether the item appears (☑) or does not appear (□) on the Start menu.
- Click I to change the maximum number of the recent items that can appear in jump lists.
- 8 Click **OK** to return to the Taskbar and Start Menu Properties dialog box.
- 💿 Click **OK**.

Windows 7 puts your new Start menu settings into effect.

 $\overline{\checkmark}$ 

You can remove a program from the Start menu's list of most often used programs. Click Start, right-click the program and click Remove from this list. 
 Image from the state

 Image from the state

alber Bert Heru	Torben	
to-curterization into behave in the Discons	, core, and minus hok and mis, cito currentes.	Calorie
love button action:	Bud dean	-
What?		
Conversion dayley	Hoards spend propriets	IT THE DOU'T HIRTS
There and deploy incluse	reservity spectral times in it	te Det mesuwalit

You can add a program permanently to the Start menu. Click Start and then right-click the program. In the shortcut menu, click Pin to Start Menu. The program's icon now appears in the top part of the menu.

## **CUSTOMISE THE TASKBAR**

You can personalise how the taskbar operates and looks to make it more efficient and suited to your working style.

For example, you can unlock the taskbar, which enables you to change its size. You can temporarily hide the taskbar to give your programs more room on the desktop or change the taskbar location. You can display smaller taskbar icons, which enables you to fit more icons on the taskbar. You can also group taskbar buttons from the same application, which gives you more room to display other taskbar icons. Finally, you can customise the notification area icons.

- Right-click an empty section of the taskbar.
- 2 Click **Properties**.

The Taskbar and Start Menu Properties dialog box appears with the Taskbar tab displayed.

- Click Lock the taskbar (I changes to I) to unlock and resize the taskbar.
- 4 Click Auto-hide the taskbar
   (□ changes to ☑) to hide the taskbar.

**Note:** To display the hidden taskbar, move the mouse  $\S$  to the bottom of the screen.

Click Use small icons

( changes to  $\blacksquare$  ) to fit more icons on the taskbar.

- 6 Click the Taskbar location on screen ■ and then click the location you prefer.
- Click the **Taskbar buttons** and then click the grouping option you prefer.





# Customise the Notification Area

#### Click Customize.

The Notification Area Icons window appears.

- 2 For each notification area icon, click and then click the setting you prefer.
- If you choose to hide one or more notification area icons, you can click here to display the hidden icons.
- 4 Click this link to turn the system icons on or off.
- Click OK to return to the taskbar properties.

6 Click OK.



 $\overline{\checkmark}$ 

 $\square$ 

You can group taskbar buttons so that a single button shows for a program that has multiple windows open. To switch to one of those windows, click the taskbar button and then click the window name. The notification area icon options control whether the icon appears in the notification area and whether you see messages from the icon's program. Choose Show icon and notifications to see both the icon and its messages; choose Only show notifications to hide the icon but still see the messages; or choose Hide icons and notifications to see neither the icon nor the messages.

## CONTENTS

- 192 Check Hard Drive Free Space
- 194 Defragment Your Hard Drive on a Schedule
- **196** Back Up Files
- 200 Restore Backed-Up Files



## **MAINTAINING WINDOWS 7**

To keep your system running smoothly, maintain top performance, and reduce the risk of computer problems, you need to perform some routine maintenance chores. This chapter shows you the most important of those chores, with an emphasis on maintaining your hard drive. For example, you learn how to monitor your hard drive's available space and defragment your hard drive for better performance.

You also learn how to back up your files and how to restore files from your backups.



### CHECK HARD DRIVE FREE SPACE

You can check how much free space your hard drive has. This is important because if you run out of room on your hard drive, you cannot install more programs or create more documents.

Of particular concern is the hard drive on which Windows 7 is installed, usually drive C. If this hard drive's free space gets low - say, less than 20 percent of the total hard drive space – Windows 7 runs slowly and may also experience problems, such as freezing.

#### Click Start.

#### Click Computer.

Note: You can also check the free space on CDs, DVDs, memory cards, or flash drives. Before you continue, insert the disc, card, or drive.

The Computer window appears.

Click the **View** icon **-**.

#### Click **Tiles**.

Information about the drive appears with the drive icon.



The amount of free space.



The total amount of space.

The bar gives you a visual indication of how much disk space is used on the drive:



It is blue when a drive has sufficient disk space.



5 Click the **Close** button (**M**) to close the Computer window.





#### **Increase Hard Drive Space**

- Delete Documents. If you have documents – particularly images, music, and videos – that you no longer need, delete them.
- 2 Remove Programs. If you have programs that you no longer use, uninstall them (see "Uninstall a Program" in Chapter 2).
- Use the Disk Cleanup program to delete files that Windows 7 no longer uses. Click Start, All Programs.
- Click Accessories.
- Click System Tools.
- Click Disk Cleanup.
- If the Drive Selection dialog box appears, click the **Drives** and then click the hard drive you want to clean up.
- 8 Click OK.

The Disk Cleanup dialog box appears.

- A This area displays the total amount of drive space you can free up.
- B This area displays the amount of drive space the activated options will free up.
- Olick the check box ( changes to ) for each file type that you want to delete.



Cli	ck	OK.	

4	1	
internet have	114	
All Concept Into Setural Projector		-
Second tax frameter	Texaments .	
a detinglished		
at that backhand	Trans.	
Minue faire	Rec.	1.0
Amora Taximy Connecton	iens	
<ol> <li>Insurantine</li> <li>Insurantine</li> </ol>	Language	
Soly Hele Systematics	Lots/Red	
wind-states	Design and Printers	
International 5	Internet Property	
all Completifier	this set is seen	
C Computer		
Contractive and		
175 Don Daning	6	
Mit Cel Establisherter		
4 ma		
Sectorepresentation 🖉	100000	

The Ceanup for ICS	
You can use Date Dearup to free up to proce on (C)	
The same design	
<ul> <li>Int Downloaded Propagities</li> </ul>	CEMIN
12 Temportry Internet Files	111 MB
EllipOttime Weborapee	21.2 48
Debug Dump files	TTS MD
🖂 🖉 Recycle Bin	Objňeo
Total arrowed of stake speece you gain:	154 Mt B
Desotation	
Demissive Program Pies are Active? contra townopind outwaterable traveline Internet w rapper. Twy are emposizing above in the Dou Files failer on your hard dak.	ole-and Javo appleta hen pas view center mbadec Pilogram
Si Oversuo externífice	Ven Nex
How does Task Oceanse work?	Oil Canod

### DEFRAGMENT YOUR HARD DRIVE ON A SCHEDULE

You can make Windows 7, and your programs, run faster, and your documents open more quickly, by defragmenting your hard drive on a regular schedule.

Most files are stored on your computer in several pieces, and over time, those pieces often get scattered around your hard drive, which means your hard drive becomes fragmented. This slows down your computer because Windows 7 has to spend extra time locating and opening each piece of a file. Defragmenting improves performance by bringing all those pieces together, making finding and opening each file faster.

#### Click Start.

Click All Programs.

**Note:** When you click **All Programs**, the command name changes to Back.

- Click Accessories.
- Olick System Tools.
- Click Disk Defragmenter.

The Disk Defragmenter window appears.

Click Configure schedule.





The Disk Defragmenter: Modify Schedule dialog box appears.

- Click **Run on a schedule** (recommended) ( changes to 🚺).
- 8 Click the **Frequency** and then click the frequency with which you want to defragment (Daily, Weekly, or Monthly).
- Olick the Day and click either the day of the week (for a Weekly schedule) or the day of the month (for a Monthly schedule).
- Click the **Time** and then click the time of day to run the defragment.
- $\square$ Click OK.
  - The new schedule appears here.
- 12 If you want to defragment your drives now, click **Defragment** disk.
- 13 Click Close.





If you use your computer every day, you should defragment your hard drive weekly. If you use your computer only occasionally, you should defragment your hard drive monthly.



**STOP** Allow at least 15 minutes for the defragmentation and know that it could take more than an hour.

### **BACK UP FILES**

You can use the Windows Backup program to make backup copies of your important files. If a system problem causes you to lose one or more files, you can restore them from the backup.

To set up Windows 7 for backups, you run through a short configuration procedure. Once that is done, you do not have to worry about backups again because Windows 7 handles everything for you automatically. In the Windows Backup program, you can back up to a recordable CD or DVD drive, to another hard drive on your system, or to a network location.

#### Click Start.

Click All Programs.

Note: When you click All Programs, the command name changes to Back.

- Click Maintenance.
- Click Backup and Restore.

The Backup and Restore window appears.

Click Set up backup.







The Set Up Backup dialog box appears.

- 6 Click the drive where you want to store the backup.
  - For a network backup, click **Save** on a network. click Browse. click the network folder, and then click **OK**.
- 8

#### Click Next.

The What Do You Want to Back Up? dialog box appears.

- Olick Let Windows choose (recommended) ( changes to 🔘).
  - 🔼 If you want to specify what to include in the backup, click Let me choose ( changes to  $\bigcirc$ ), instead, and then make your selections in the next dialog box.

#### 10 Click Next.

Ì	

A system image is an exact copy of your entire system. If your computer crashes and will no longer start, you can use a system image backup to restore the entire system. If you back up to another hard drive or a network drive, a system image is automatically included in the backup.

After you have configured your initial backup, Windows Backup runs automatically once a week, although you can change that schedule if you prefer to back up more or less often.

197





### BACK UP FILES (continued)

By default, Windows Backup backs up the files in your Windows 7 libraries: Documents, Music, Pictures, and Video, as well as your favourites, contacts, e-mails, downloads, saved searches, and the contents of your desktop. Windows Backup also backs up the library files for the other users on your computer.

The Review Your Backup Settings dialog box appears.

Click Save settings and run backup.

alog Looker	40-503-01-e-(5)	
and monthly		
diama dia mandri dia ma		Instant Planta
latedule	Explanity #7094	Dorge alledde

Label and insett a blank media Reservice the following label or a blank media and inset 0 into 10.

13

MERIARCS/25/20012/27/01/will

OK. Stephedue

If you are backing up to a CD or DVD, Windows Backup asks you to insert a blank disk.



B Click **OK**.

# Insert a blank disc in the drive.

Windows Backup asks if you are sure you want to format the disc.



#### Click Format.

Windows Backup formats the disc and resumes the backup.

If the medium you are backing up to becomes full, the Label and Insert a Blank Media dialog box appears.

**I** Remove the full medium, replace it with a new one, and then click **OK**.

**Note:** If your backup requires multiple media, you should give each medium a label, such as Backup I, Backup 2, and so on.

> When the backup is done, the Windows Backup Has Completed Successfully dialog box appears.

Click **Close**. 6

Beck lip	Ale La Carte Carta
63	Are you sure you want to format this media?
-	ED-ADVIDINE E3
	The media needs to be formative before it can be used. Parmeting will completely even all determ the media.
11 •	ant ad again 4 may Formet Carol

Beck Up	Files
.8	Label and insert a blank media
	Plases whether following label on a blank media and insert it into \$1.
	MEDINPC 5/25/2009:13:81 PM Drive 3
	15-CX Inpindap

* Watercheisp. 201 ongen	COLUMN DE
Windows Serkup her completed successfully	
Trates	
New Yorkship and have Long the device by	
16-	Dee

By default, Windows Backup performs a weekly backup, which is fine for most users. To change the schedule, follow Steps I to 4, click Change settings, click Next, click Next, and then click Change schedule.

### **RESTORE BACKED-UP FILES**

You can restore a file from a backup if the file is lost because your Windows 7 system crashed, or because the application you used to edit the file had some sort of problem and wrecked the file. You might also need to recover a file if you accidentally overwrote the file or if you deleted it and it was then removed from the Recycle Bin.

Even if you still have the file, you might want to recover an earlier version of it if you improperly edited the file by deleting or changing important data.

#### Click Start.

- Click All Programs.
- Click Maintenance.
- Click Backup and Restore.

The Backup and Restore window appears.

Click Restore my files.

The Browse or Search Your Backup for Files and Folders to Restore dialog box appears.

- If you backed up using a removable medium such as a CD, DVD, or memory card, insert the medium that contains the backups.
- Click Browse for files.
  - If you want to restore an entire folder, click Browse for folders, instead.





The Browse the Backup for Files dialog box appears.

8 Open the folder that contains the file you want to restore.



Click the file you want to restore.

**Note:** To restore multiple files from the same folder, press and hold **Curl** and click each file.

10

#### Click Add files.

- A The file you selected appears in the list.
- Repeat Steps 7 to 10 to select other files to restore.
- 🔟 Click **Next**.





### **RESTORE BACKED-UP FILES** (continued)

You can restore all of the backed-up files, which is useful after a major system crash. If you are having problems with or are missing just a few files, you can restore just those backed-up files.

You can also restore the files in their original locations or in a different location. Using a different location is useful if you want to preserve the existing version of a file. By restoring it to a different location, you get to work with both versions.

The Where Do You Want to Restore Your Files? dialog box appears.

Click In the original location
 (
 changes to ().

If you prefer to restore the file to another folder, click **In the following location** (() changes to (), instead, and then click **Browse** to choose the location.

#### Click Restore.

If you do not have the correct backup media inserted, Windows Backup prompts you to insert the correct disc or drive.



Click **OK**.

ly 's famalia Ware down watte mean our file'	
• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	
< in the following it dataset	bana.



If a file with the same name exists in the original location, you see the Copy File dialog box.

- If you want Windows Backup to handle all conflicts the same way, click Do this for all conflicts ( $\square$  changes to  $\blacksquare$ ).
- Click Copy and Replace.
  - If you want to keep the original, click **Don't copy**, instead.
  - If you want to see both files, click Copy, but keep both files, instead.

The Your Files Have Been Restored dialog box appears.

19 Click **Finish**.

#### **Restore from an Older Backup**

- Follow Steps I to 5 to display the Browse or Search Your Backup for Files and Folders to Restore dialog box.

#### Click Choose a different date.

In the Restore Files dialog box, click the Show backups from - and then click the timeframe that includes the backup you want to work with.

#### Click the backup.

Click OK.





## INDEX

### A

Action Center (security), 170–171 active options, 20 Address Bar, 73, 74, 126, 128 addresses, 124, 127, 128-129, 146, 148-149 administrator accounts, 108, 109, 117, 143, 168 album art. 73, 76 all files, 93, 96, 97 all-in-one printers, 62, 63 anti-phishing features, 169 applications. See also specific applications restoring, 200 searching, 104 artist names. 75 attachments, e-mail, 150-151, 154, 158-159 audio files, 74, 76, 81 authentication, e-mail, 145 autocomplete, Web addresses, 129 automatic photoprocessing, 66-67 automatic reopening of programs/documents, 13

#### B

background, desktop, 180, 181 backing up, 17, 67, 96, 196–199 Bing search engine, 137 bit rate (sound), 81 blind carbon copies (Bcc), 146, 149 bold fonts, 48, 49 borders, customisation, 184 brightness, colour, 66–67, 184, 185 browsers. **See** Internet Explorer burning files to CDs/DVDs, 84–85, 98–99 buttons on toolbars, 19

#### С

Calendar, 160–165 cameras, 58, 62–63, 64 carbon copies (Cc), 146, 149, 156 case matching, 51 categories, Help and Support, 10, 11 CDs CD drives. 78 copying to/from, 80-81, 84-85, 98-99, 198-199 installing from, 16 pausing, 78 playing, 78–79 repeating, 79 restoring from, 200–201 resuming, 78 space checks, 192 characters, password, 5 clicking and dragging colour properties, 185 mice. 8. 9 playlists, 83 Preview pane, 95 to Recycle Bin, 102 scheduling, 163 text. 45. 47 Volume slider, 77 windows, 26, 27, 95 clipboard, 96 colour coding, 164 customisation, 184–185 fonts, 49 personalization, 180 photo paper choices, 69 photoprocessing adjustments, 66-67 .com. 128 combo boxes, 23 commands, 19, 20, 21 composers, 75, 79 computers backups, 196-199 locking, 174-175 memory, 40, 42 naming, 113
performance. See performance restarting, 13 restoring, 200-203 sharing, 108 shutting down, 13 turning on, 4 Web servers, 124 Windows 7 transfers to/from, 12 configuration of backups, 196-199 e-mail. 144–145 of file view, 94 with first-time use, 4 confirming genuine copies, 12 contacts, 104, 147-149 contrast, photoprocessing changes, 66-67 Control Panel, 17, 34, 108 copies digital, 62-63 number of. 22, 55 guality (sound), 81 system image backups, 197 copying CDs/DVDs, 80-81, 84-85, 98-99, 198-201 files/folders, 6, 96 text. 46 tracks, 80 corrupt files, 17 crashing computers, 100, 102, 196-203 Create a Homegroup Wizard, 119 creating administrator accounts, 108 documents, 39 e-mail. 38 events, 163 files, 101 pictures, 6 playlists, 82–83 user accounts, 109 cropping photos, 66-67 Current Date, [6] current link. 126 cursors, 22

customisation about, 179 CDs, 84 colour scheme, 184–185 desktop, 181 navigation pane, 83 Personalization window, 180 photos, 67 playlists, 82–83 screen saver, 182–183 security, 175 Start menu, 186–187 taskbar, 188–189

## D

data backup, 17 Date Navigator, 161, 162 dates, 7, 161, 162 defaults backups, 198 calendars, 164 configuration, 4 Documents folder, 40, 42 e-mail checks, frequency of, 154 home pages, 134 Internet Explorer as, 126 signatures, 153 defragmenting hard drives, 194–195 deleting documents, 193 e-mail. 117 favourites, 117, 137 files. 102 reversing, 103 text. 44 tracks, 81 user accounts. ||6-||7 deselecting files, 93 desktop about, 7 appearance, 5 background, 180, 181 configuration, 4

desktop (continued) dividing, 27 usability, 24 destinations, 32, 33 details, viewing options, 94 Details pane, 59, 73, 74, 82-83, 99 dialog boxes, 22–23 digital cameras. See cameras dimensions files. 59 photos, 67 disconnecting from wireless networks, 121 Disk Cleanup program, 193 disk space, freeing up, 34, 116 displaying dates. 162 favourites, 137 font options, 48 system menu, 25, 27 toolbars, 21 user accounts, 108 Web pages, 129 documents about, 37 creating, 39 editing text, 44-47, 52-53, 193 fonts, 48-49 icons for, 7 opening, 13, 42-43 printing, 54-55 saving, 40-41 scanning, 62-63 searching, 50-51, 104 types of, 38, 39 Documents folder, as default, 40, 42 Documents library, 43, 91 dots as password characters, 5 dots per inch (dpi), 69 Double-click Speed group, 9 double-clicking mice, 8 downloading, status of, 127 Downloads folder, 16 dpi (dots per inch), 69

drawings, 38 drop-down list boxes, 23 DVDs backing up to, 198–199 burning files to, 98–99 DVD drives, 78 installing from, 16 playing, 86–87 restoring from, 200–201 space checks, 192

# E

editing documents, 44-47, 52-53, 193 e-mail, 156, 157 file names, 159 pictures, 6 restoration after. 200 ejecting discs, 99 e-mail. See also Windows Live Mail program about, 38 accounts, 145 addresses, structure of, 146 attachments, 150-151, 154, 158-159 checks, frequency of, 154, 155 deleting, 117 forwarding, 157 graphics in, 6 reading, 155 receiving, 154 replying to, 156 searching, 104 sending/receiving, 6, 146 signatures, 152–153 spam, 169, 176–177 entering values, 22 erasing discs, 99 unsaved changes, 40 European Union, Internet Explorer in, 125 Event List, 161 events, creating, 163 executing commands, 21 exiting Windows 7, 13

# F

fast-forwarding DVDs, 87 favourites, 136–137 files about. 89 copying, 96, 98-99, 196-199 corrupt, 17 creating, 101 damaging, 13 deleting, 102 dimensions of, 59 finding, 16 identifying, 63, 65 moving, 97 naming, 41 previewing, 95 renaming, 100 restoring, 103, 200-203 searching, 104-105 selecting, 92–93 size of, 59, 60-61, 63, 99 types of, 59, 75 viewing, 90-91, 94 Find feature, 50–51 firewalls, 168, 170 flash drives, space checks, 192 folders adding, 91 copying, 96 moving to/from, 97 searching from, 104-105 storage in, 90–91 viewing options, 94 fonts, 38, 48-49, 185 forgetting passwords, 5 formatting CDs/DVDs, 199 discs, 98 documents, 38 fonts, 38, 185 forwarding e-mail, 157 freeing up disk space, 34, 192-193 freezing, 192

# G

getting work done, 6 glossy paper, 69 graphics. **See specific types of graphics** graphics cards, 185 grouping, 75, 188, 189 groups of files, 93, 96, 97 Guest account, 108

## Η

hard drives, 40, 42, 90, 192–193, 194–195 Help and Support, 10–11 Hiding, 21, 149, 188, 189 hints, password, 111 history list (Web sites), 128 home pages, 134–135 homegroups, 118–119 http://, 128 hue (colour), 184, 185 hyperlinks, 87, 124, 126, 127

# 

icons Action Center, 171 desktop, 7 files, 100, 101 in folders, 94 Network, 120, 121 in notification area, 7, 189 Preview pane, 95 printers, 55 for programs, 19 for Recycle Bin, 102 on Start menu, 187 System Menu, 19 for user names. 4 idle time, screen savers, 183 images about, 57 for desktop background, 181 importing, 58, 63, 64-65 printing, 68–69 repairing, 66-67

images (continued) scanning, 62-63 viewing, 58–61 importing images, 58, 63, 64-65 Inbox, e-mail, 154 incoming mail servers, 154 insertion points, 22 installation, programs, 16–17 Internet, 6, 12, 120 Internet Explorer about, 124, 125 address shortcuts, 128 with Bing search engine, 137 favourites, 104, 117, 136-137 Find feature, 50 navigating with, 126 starting, 125 surfing with, 6 Internet service providers (ISPs), 144, 151, 154 invisible characters, 5 italic fonts, 48, 49

# J

jump lists, 32–33, 42, 186 junk e-mail, 169, 176–177

## Κ

keyboard, 19. See also shortcuts

# L

layout, page, 69 left-handed mouse use, 9 libraries documents, 43 Pictures library, 58–59, 63, 65, 68–69 Windows Media Player, 73, 74–76, 78, 80 lines, selecting, 45 links, 87, 124, 126, 127 list box items, 23 loading tabs for, 131, 134 Web pages, 124, 126, 127, 129 without home pages, 135 locking computers, 174–175 locking the taskbar, 188 logging in, 4–5, 7, 144

# Μ

magnifying glass, 60 mail servers, 144, 154 maintenance, 191-203 matching in text searches, 51 maximizing windows, 19, 24 media. See specific media Media Player. See Windows Media Player memory, 40, 58, 185, 192 menu bars, 19, 20. See also specific menu bars; specific menus metadata grouping, 75 mice, 7–9, 29, 126, 127 Microsoft. See specific Microsoft products minimizing windows, 19, 24 movies, 86 multitasking, 29 music. See also Windows Media Player playing, 6 songs, 73, 75, 79, 83 storage, 91 My Documents, 91

# Ν

naming calendars, 165 computers, 113 conventions, 100, 113 files, 41, 100 user accounts, 112–113 navigating. **See also** surfing Calendar, 161, 162 ease of, 116 with Internet Explorer, 126 playlists, 86 tabs for, 131 Web sites, 132–133 Windows Media Player, 73, 74 navigation pane, Windows Media Player, 73 Network icon, 120, 121 network sharing, 118–119 Notepad, 38, 41, 50, 52 notification area, 7, 189

#### 0

older backups, 203 opening attachments, 158 destinations, 32 documents, 13, 42–43 images, 58 Personalization window, 180 Pictures library, 58 programs, 13 Web pages, 130 Windows Media Player, 72 operating system, Windows 7 as, 6 organization. **See** libraries overlapping windows, 26, 27 overwriting files, unintentional, 200

## P

Paint program, 38, 63 paper, 7, 69 paragraphs, selecting, 45 Parental Controls, 168 passwords administrator accounts, 143 characters, hiding, 121 e-mail. 144 for homegroups, 118, 119 logging in, 4–5 with screen savers, 183 security keys, 120–121 strength of, 172, 173 with user accounts, 109, 111, 168, 172-173 pasting from clipboard, 96 pausing CDs/DVDs, 78, 87 performance about, 13 crashing/erratic behaviour, 100, 102 defragmenting, 194

hard drive space, 192 viruses, 158, 159, 168, 170 permission, 108 phishing, 169 photoprocessing, 66-67 photos, 62-63, 65, 69 Picture folder's view, 61 pictures about, 6 changing, 114–115 photos, 62-63, 65, 69 Pictures library for desktop background, 181 images from, 58 printing from, 68–69 storage in, 63, 65, 91 pinning destinations, 33 piracy, Microsoft policies for, 12 play count, 75 playback, 73, 76–79, 86–87 playing audio files. 76 CDs, 78-79 DVDs. 86-87 video files. 76 playlists, 82-83 Post Office Protocol (POP), 144 powering off computers, 13 Preview pane, 59, 95 Previewing, 58–59, 69, 95, 182 printers, 7, 55, 62, 63, 69 printing, 6, 22, 54-55, 68-69 product key, 16 profiles, user accounts, 108 programs about, 15 dialog boxes, 22–23 Help and Support, 11 icons for, 7 installation, 16, 17, 101 jumplists, 32-33 opening, 13 pull-down menus, 20 removing, 193

programs (continued) scrollbars, 28–29 on Start menu, 187 starting, 18 switching between, 30-31 in taskbar. 7 toolbars, 21 uninstalling, 34-35 windows in, 19, 24-27 progress, showing, 98 prompting for passwords, 4 properties accessing, 12 colour, 184, 185 e-mail, 145 proportion (photos), 67 protection. See also specific protection junk e-mail, 176–177 viruses, 168, 170 Public Documents, 91 pull-down menus, 19, 20

#### Q

Quick Tabs button, 131

## R

random ordering, music, 79 ratings, media, 75 reading e-mail, 155 rearranging songs, 85 receiving e-mail, 6, 154 recently used items documents, 42, 186 programs, 32, 186 recently visited Web sites, 128 recovering files, 102, 103 passwords, 5, 119 recurring events, 160, 163 Recycle Bin, 102, 103 red eye, removing, 67 redirecting links, 127 Refresh, 129 reloading Web pages, 129

removable media, 91 removing destinations. 33 programs, 193 tracks. 81 user accounts, 108 renaming files, 100 repairing images, 66-67 program installations, 17 repeating CDs, 79 replacing text, 52-53 replying to e-mail, 156 Reply/Reply All, 156 resolution print quality, 69 of scanned images, 63 restarting computers, 13, 40 restoring files, 103, 200-203 volume, 77 windows, 25 resuming CDs, 78 returning to previous screens, 11 to Web pages, 132 reusing discs, 99 rewinding DVDs, 87 Rich Text Format documents, 38 right-clicking mice, 9 ripping (copying), 80-81 root menus, 86, 87 rotating images, 66-67 Run file. 16

## S

saturation colour, 184, 185 photoprocessing adjustments, 66–67 Save As dialog box, 40, 41, 105 saving attachments, 159 documents, 40–41 searches, 105 scanners, 58, 63 scanning images, 62-63 scheduling. See also Calendar backups, 197, 199 defragmentation, 194–195 screen elements. 7 screen saver, 180, 182-183 scrollbars, 28–29 Search box, 104 search engines, 137-138 searching documents, 50–51 files, 104-105 Web sites, 138-139 Windows Media Player, 74 security about, 167 Action Center, 170–171 characters, hiding, 121 computers, 174–175 elements, 168-169 junk e-mail, 169, 176–177 passwords, 172–173 with screen savers. 183 with user accounts, 109 viruses, 158, 159, 168, 170 when logging in, 4, 5 with wireless networks, 120–121 sending e-mail, 6, 38, 146, 156, 157 Sent Items folder, 146, 156, 157 serial numbers. 16 settings, security, 171 SETUP.EXE, 16 shortcuts keyboard calendars, 160, 164 contacts, 147 copying, 46 cutting, 47 for dialog boxes, 23 favourites, 136 finding, 50 fonts, 49

music, 79 opening documents/Web pages, 42, 130 pasting, 46, 47 printing, 54 programs, switching between, 31 replacing, 52 security all, 93 selecting, 45 system menu, displaying, 25, 27 tabs, cycling through, 131 undoing mistakes, 44 windows, closing, 27 with mice, 45 Personalization window, 180 Web site addresses, 128 showing movies/videos, 86 shuffling songs, 79, 85 shutting down, 13, 19, 40 signatures, e-mail, 152–153 single files, 92, 96, 97 single user configuration, 4 size of files, 59, 99 ISP limitations, 151 paper options, 69 sizing fonts, 48, 49 icons, 188 images, 67 taskbars, 188 windows, 26, 95 skipping tracks, 78 slide shows, 60 songs, 73, 75, 79, 83 sound adjustments, 73 spam, 169, 176–177 spin buttons, 22 spyware, 168, 170 Start Button, 7 Start menu about, 10 in computer shutdown, 13 customisation, 186-187

Start menu (continued) pictures on, 114 in program startup, 18 Properties, accessing from, 12 searching from, 104 with user accounts, 111 Windows Media Player from, 72 starting Internet Explorer, 125 programs, 18 Windows 7, 4–5, 7 status bar, Web pages, 126, 127 Stop button, 78 stopping DVDs, 87 storage on hard drives, 40, 42, 90 in Pictures library, 58, 63 in Windows 7, 91 subcategories, Help and Support, 11 subfolders, 90–91 submenus, 20 surfing about, 123 home pages, 134–135 with Internet Explorer, 6, 125, 126 links for, 127 Web pages, 128–133, 136–139 World Wide Web, 124 swapping file selections, 93 switching to Calendar, 160 between folders, 97 between programs, 30–31 between user accounts. ||0-||| system files, pitfalls, 100, 102 system image backup, 197 system menu, 19, 25, 27

#### **T** tabs

for home pages, 135 for Web pages, 130–131 Windows Media Player, 73

taskbar Action Center in, 171 customisation, 188-189 Internet Explorer in, 125 programs, 7, 18, 30 Windows Media Player in, 72 tasks, 6, 33 text copying, 46 in documents, 38 moving, 47 replacing, 52–53 scrolling, 28 selecting, 45 text boxes, 22 themes, changing, 180 thumbnail views, 31, 61, 95, 131, 182 time, viewing, 7 time intervals, e-mail checks, 154, 155 tint, photoprocessing adjustments, 66-67 title bar, 19, 41 titles, 73, 79, 98, 126 toggle features, 20, 21 toolbars, 19, 21, 73 tracks, adding/skipping, 78, 80 transparency, colour, 184–185 typeface, 48, 49 typing, 5, 22

## U

underlined fonts, 49 Undo button, 44 Uniform Resource Locator (URL), 124 uninstalling programs, 17, 34–35 unlocking, 175, 188 unpinning destinations, 33 unsaved changes, losing, 13 Unsecured icon, 121 updates, 7, 170 URL (Uniform Resource Locator), 124 User Account Control, 108, 143, 168, 170 user accounts about, 107 creating, 109 deleting, 116–117 displaying, 108 logging in, 4 name changes, 112–113 pictures, 114–115 security, 168 switching between, 110–111 user names, 4, 144

#### V

values, entering, 22 version restoration, 200 video files, 73, 74, 76, 86, 91 viruses, 158, 159, 168, 170 volume adjustments, 77, 86

## W

Web pages about, 124 addresses for, 124, 127, 128-129 favourites, 136-137 navigating, 132–133 tabs for, |30–|3| titles. 126. 127 Web servers, 124 Web sites about, 124 addresses for, 124, 128-129 home pages, 134–135 recently visited sites, 128 searching, 138-139 tabs for, |30-|3| Welcome screen, 4, 110, 113, 116 wheel (mice), 28 windows, 19, 24-27, 30, 104-105 Windows 7. See specific topics Windows Backup program, 196–199 Windows Defender, 168, 170

Windows Explorer, 16, 94, 95 Windows Fax and Scan. 63 Windows Firewall, 168, 170 Windows Live Contacts, 147, 148–149 Windows Live Essentials Web site, 142 Windows Live Mail program. See also e-mail about, 6, 38, 141 Calendar, 160–165 contacts, 147, 148-149 e-mail, 144-147, 150-159 Find feature, 50 installation, 142–143 Windows Live Movie Maker, 142 Windows Live Photo Gallery, 60, 61, 63, 66-67, 142 Windows Media Player about, 71 audio files, 76 CDs. 78-79, 80-81, 84-85 closing, 72 DVDs. 86-87 elements of, 73 library, 74-75, 77, 78, 80 opening, 72 playlists, 82–83 video files. 76 volume adjustments, 77 Windows Photo Viewer, 60 wireless networks, 120–121 word processing documents, 38 WordPad about, 6 documents, 38, 39, 41 Find feature, 50 font options, 48 Replace feature, 52 words, selecting, 45 World Wide Web, 6, 124. See also Web pages; Web sites

# SINPLY the easiest way to tackle technology...



Step-by-step introduction to technology



Concise, jargon-free information

Packed with full-colour screenshots



ISBN 978-0-470-71133-0 £10.99



ISBN 978-0-470-71129-3 £10.99

Available from all good bookshops



